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Mikron
Key figures 2012

in CHF million, except productivity and number of employees 2012 2011 +/-

Key performance data
Order intake 236.3 225.0 11.3 5.0%

Machining 123.6 148.3 -24.7 -16.7%

Automation 113.0 77.1 35.9 46.6%

Net sales 235.3 210.9 24.4 11.6%

Machining 134.3 123.3 11.0 8.9%

Automation 101.2 88.1 13.1 14.9%

Order backlog 109.5 95.9 13.6 14.2%

Machining 51.2 61.7 -10.5 -17.0%

Automation 58.3 34.2 24.1 70.5%

Operating output 237.4 212.0 25.4 12.0%

Productivity (added value/personnel expenses) 1.46 1.48 -0.02 -1.4%

Research and development 5.2 6.1 -0.9 -14.8%

Number of employees (end of year) 1,093 972 121 12.4%

Machining 535 512 23 4.5%

Automation 554 455 99 21.8%

Earnings
Operating result, as % of net sales 9.1 3.9% 7.4 3.5% 1.7 23.0%

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), as % of net sales 11.2 4.8% 9.4 4.5% 1.8 19.1%

Machining 9.9 7.4% 7.1 5.8% 2.8 39.4%

Automation -1.6 -1.6% 0.1 0.1% -1.7 n.a.

Profit for the year, as % of net sales 8.5 3.6% 7.1 3.4% 1.4 19.7%

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities (incl. changes in  
net working capital), as % of net sales 9.8 4.2% 8.0 3.8% 1.8 22.5%

Balance sheet
Balance sheet total 231.1 219.1 12.0 5.5%

Current assets 146.1 136.7 9.4 6.9%

Cash and current financial assets 44.3 50.0 -5.7 -11.4%

Non-current assets 85.0 82.4 2.6 3.2%

Current liabilities 60.5 53.2 7.3 13.7%

Long-term liabilities 17.6 17.7 -0.1 -0.6%

Shareholders’ equity, as % of balance sheet total 153.0 66.2% 148.2 67.6% 4.8 3.2%
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Mikron
Report by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the CEO

The Mikron Group generated EBIT of CHF 11.2 million or 
4.8% of sales (prior year: 9.4 million, 4.5%). Due to im-
proved profitability, and as the balance sheet remains very 
sound, the Board of Directors will be proposing a distribu-
tion of CHF 0.15 per share to the Annual General Meeting 
(prior year: CHF 0.12). As in the previous year, this corre-
sponds to a payout ratio of around 30%.

The Machining business segment improved its sales and 
earnings to a good level as expected, and also gained ad-
ditional market share in key areas. Despite starting the year 
with a very low order backlog, the Automation business 
segment also managed to increase sales and strengthen 
its position in the European automation business. This is 
particularly due to the new applications which have sup-
plemented Mikron Automation’s product range since the 
acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin GmbH. 

Europe remains the most important market by far for the 
Mikron Group. It was therefore essential for our group to 
adapt effectively to the – sometimes very different – de-
velopments in the individual European countries. We are 
also continuing to concentrate on customer focus, innova-
tion and quality, as well as improving the efficiency of our 
operations, increasing the flexibility of our cost base, and 
optimizing our processes. To name two examples: In 2012, 
the Machining segment introduced a new ERP system at 
the Agno and Rottweil sites, and the Automation business 
segment has embarked on a comprehensive reorganization 
of its main site at Boudry.

The Mikron Group also continued to resolutely pursue its 
strategic goals in the year under review, for example, with 
the acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin. The Automation 
business segment integrated the company, now operating 
under the name Mikron Berlin, quickly and successfully as 
an additional production site into its organization. The re-
sulting expansion of its range provided Mikron Automation 
with better access to the German automotive market. As 
expected, the solar market – a further field of activity for 
the former IMA Automation Berlin – has not yet recovered 
and the outlook for this market remains uncertain. The 

Dear Shareholders,

In a difficult environment for the Swiss export industry with the Swiss franc remaining strong and 

demand for capital goods weakening in the second half of the year, the Mikron Group achieved 

further earnings growth and a 12% increase in sales to CHF 235.3 million in 2012 (previous year: 

CHF 210.9 million). Adjusted for acquisitions – factoring out sales by Mikron Berlin – Mikron in-

creased its net sales by 5%.

Mikron improved its EBIT to
CHF 11.2 million in 2012.

Mikron is continuing to 
concentrate on customer  
focus, innovation, quality 
and efficiency.
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Customers worldwide expe-
rience the added value of 
Mikron when producing very 
large volumes of complex 
components with maximum 
precision on Mikron systems. 

Machining business segment supplemented and expanded 
its product range, and in China, its service hub was ex-
panded as planned.

All around the world, Mikron is a byword for highly pro-
ductive and ultra-precise machining and automation sys-
tems. Customers worldwide experience the added value 
of Mikron when producing very large volumes of complex 
components with maximum precision on Mikron systems.  
Mikron’s outstanding reputation is a result of the commit-
ment and dedication of all its employees. This focus on 
customers and the market is one of six values formulated 
during 2012 for the Mikron Group. These are the result of a 
great deal of reflection and a number of workshops involv-
ing managers and employees. The newly defined six values 
are intended to provide all employees with collective long-
term guidance. For more information please visit our fully 
redesigned website. You can now also familiarize yourself 
with the Mikron Group’s machines, systems and tools con-
veniently via your smartphone or tablet computer, thanks 
to the new Mikron app.

Mikron Report by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO

Bruno Cathomen, Chief Executive Officer Heinrich Spoerry, Chairman of the Board



8 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Mikron Report by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO

Key figures

Order intake and net sales
Demand for Mikron Group products remained healthy in 
2012. Compared to the previous year, the Mikron Group 
increased its order intake by 5% in 2012. Adjusted for ac-
quisitions, the order intake is approximately the same as in 
2011. The automotive as well as the pharmaceutical and 
medical devices industries are Mikron’s key markets, ac-
counting for a total of two-thirds of sales. Some 80% of 
orders in 2012 came from European customers, although 
Mikron also achieved good results in other regions during 
the reporting year. For example, the Automation segment 
acquired a number of new customers in the USA with the 
potential for future orders, and booked a total of 47% 
more orders compared with 2011. The Machining segment, 
which began 2012 with a strong order backlog, received 
significantly fewer orders in the second half of the year, 
resulting in falling net sales in the fourth quarter, especially 
in the tools business.

The Mikron Group increased its annual sales by 12% to 
CHF 235.3 million (prior year: CHF 210.9 million). The Ma-
chining segment achieved 9% sales growth to CHF 134.3 
million (prior year: CHF 123.3 million), and the Automation 
business segment’s sales rose by 15% (-1% after adjust-
ment for acquisitions) to CHF 101.2 million (prior year: CHF 
88.1 million).

Profitability
Thanks to a good second half of 2012, the Mikron Group 
improved the EBIT by 19% to CHF 11.2 million (prior year: 
CHF 9.4 million) or 4.8% of sales. While the Machining 
business segment once again increased its profitability with 
an EBIT margin of 7.4%, operating profit in the Automa-
tion business segment remains unsatisfactory with a loss of  
CHF -1.6 million. Currency-related competitive disadvan-
tages, delays and extra costs in some projects, and the in-
sufficient level of capacity utilization in the first half of 2012 
had a distinctly negative impact on the profitability of the 
Automation business. 

Net earnings and shareholders’ equity
Factoring in the financial results and income taxes, Mikron’s 
net earnings for 2012 were CHF 8.5 million (prior year: CHF 
7.1 million). The equity ratio remains very sound at 66%.
 
Cash flow
The Mikron Group increased its operational cash flow in 
2012, which stood at CHF 9.8 million. These funds were 
used during the year under review to finance infrastructure 

The automotive as well as 
the pharmaceutical and 
medical devices industries 
are Mikron’s key markets, 
accounting for a total of 
two-thirds of sales.

The Machining segment 
achieved 9% sales growth, 
and the Automation business 
segment’s sales rose by 15%.
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Mikron Report by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO

projects, the modernization of machinery, innovations, the 
acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin and the distribution 
to shareholders. Even though the company’s cash and cash 
equivalents decreased by CHF 0.6 million during the report-
ing year, the Mikron Group is still essentially debt-free. 

Outlook

The general economic trend remains uncertain for 2013. 
We are anticipating stagnation in Europe together with 
slight growth in Asia and the USA. Furthermore, we as-
sume steady demand in the pharmaceutical and medical 
devices industries, with a short- to medium-term downturn 
in the European automotive segment. Based on the stron-
ger order backlog in the Automation segment, we expect 
sales by the Mikron Group in 2013 to be on a par with 
2012, with a slight improvement in EBIT margin.

Thanks

We would like to express our sincere thanks to all Mik-
ron Group employees for their hard work, dedication and 
loyalty. We would also like to say a big thank you to our 
customers, and to you, our shareholders, for the trust you 
place in the Mikron Group. On behalf of Mikron, we would 
like to take this opportunity to express our special thanks to 
Prof. Dr. Peter Forstmoser for his many years of service on 
the Group’s Board of Directors. For the past 36 years, and 
through some difficult times, he has supported the Mikron 
Group. As one of Switzerland’s leading experts in company 
law he has contributed his knowledge to our Audit Com-
mittee and full Board of Directors with great commitment. 
The Board of Directors will be proposing Dr. Andreas Ca-
sutt as his successor to the Annual General Meeting in April 
2013, who also has a very strong legal background.

Yours sincerely,

Heinrich Spoerry, Chairman of the Board
Bruno Cathomen, Chief Executive Officer

For 2013 Mikron expects a 
slight improvement in EBIT 
margin.



10 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Brief profile of the Mikron Group

The two divisions, Mikron Automation and Mikron Ma-
chining, are based in Boudry and Agno, Switzerland, with 
additional facilities in Germany, Singapore, China and the 
United States. The Mikron Group employs approximately 
1100 people who work to provide Mikron customers with 
an experience that reflects over 100 years of leadership in 
high-performance and high-precision production.
 
Mikron Holding AG trades on the SIX Swiss Exchange un-
der the symbol MIKN.

The Mikron Group markets machining and automation solutions, enabling customers around the 

world to master their precision manufacturing processes. Rooted in a culture of Swiss innovation, 

Mikron is a leading supplier to the automotive, medical devices, pharmaceutical, consumer goods, 

writing instruments and watch-making industries.

Mission

As a global, leading supplier of high-volume, high-precision 
machining and automation solutions, the Mikron Group 
helps its customers to achieve and keep the leading posi-
tion in their business and to increase industrial productivity 
and quality.

Values

Skilled and motivated employees
Success is founded on skilled and motivated employees 
who are willing to take responsibility and work together 
constructively. The Mikron Group overcomes technical 
challenges through lively knowledge-sharing that results in 
intelligent, innovative, and high-performance production 
solutions for its customers.

Market and customer focus
The Mikron Group always focuses on the needs of its 
customers, with the aim of establishing and cultivating 
long-term relationships with them. The Group excels in a 
competitive market, offering cost-effective and technically 
optimized solutions for the manufacture of high-precision 
products in large quantities.

Focus on targets and results
The Mikron Group has well defined, demanding quantita-
tive and qualitative targets and devotes all its energy to 
achieving them. Each employee is aware of the targets – 
both their own and those of the company – and contrib-
utes to their achievement.

Responsibility and role model function
The Group honors common agreements and takes respon-
sibility. All employees see themselves as ambassadors of 
Mikron and show respect and loyalty towards their col-
leagues, customers, and business partners. Employees of 
the Mikron Group talk to each other openly and honestly 
to keep each other informed.

Quality
Quality is all-encompassing. The Mikron Group works inde-
pendently to the highest level of precision in order to meet 
all explicit and implicit requirements. The Group continu-
ously improves its products and processes, and invests in 
new technologies and projects.

Confidentiality
All employees are informed of key developments regularly 
by their line managers. Outside the company, they are very 
careful and restrictive with information, and ensure that 
only duly authorized people have access to the information.

Brand management

The Mikron Group actively manages its umbrella brand and 
sub-brands. Both the Automation and Machining business 
segments attend trade fairs all over the world, where they 
present their various systems, products and solutions. The 
Group also uses various brochures, a state-of-the-art web-
site including videos, and an iPhone/iPad application as 
brand management tools.
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Mikron Automation Mikron Machining
Mikron Machining is a leading supplier of customized, 
highly productive machining solutions for the manufactur-
ing of complex high-precision components made of metal 
and of high-performance cutting tools. Customers in the 
automotive, the writing instruments and the consumer 
goods and watchmaking industries account for the major-
ity of the segment’s net sales.

 – Engineering and production sites in Agno (Switzerland, 
headquarters), Rottweil (Germany) and Monroe (USA)

 – 540 employees
 – Net sales: CHF 134 million in 2012

 – Machining systems and solutions
 – Cutting tools
 – Services

 – Over 100 years’ experience
 – More than 7,000 systems installed

Mikron Automation is one of the world’s leading manufac-
turers of customized, highly productive automation solu-
tions for high-precision assembly and testing of products 
up to hand-size. The business segment operates primarily in 
the medical devices, pharmaceutical, automotive and con-
sumer goods industries.

 – Engineering and production sites in Boudry (Switzer-
land, headquarters), Berlin (Germany), Denver (USA), 
Singapore and Shanghai (P.R. China)

 – 550 employees
 – Net sales: CHF 101 million in 2012

 – Automation solutions for assembly and testing
 – Services

 – Over 37 years’ experience
 – More than 2,900 systems installed

Switzerland: 
Agno, Boudry

Singapore

USA: Denver

P.R. China: Shanghai

v  Production sites 

Sales and service representatives
m Mikron Automation
m Mikron Machining

Mikron Holding AG 
Biel, Switzerland

Germany: Berlin, Rottweil

Mikron Group Brief profile
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Mikron
Highlights in 2012

9 January: Successful launch of the new SAP ERP sys-
tem at Mikron Machining after an intensive year of prepa-
ration and considerable involvement of many employees.

1 February: Mikron announces the acquisition of IMA 
Automation Berlin GmbH from the Feintool Group. The ap-
proval by the German Bundeskartellamt (competition au-
thority) is obtained in March 2013. By integrating the com-
pany as an independent unit within its Automation division, 
the Mikron Group strengthens its position in the German 
automotive market in particular. 

March: The entire Mikron Group website (www.mikron.
com) is completely revamped with a clearer, more modern 
structure and now offers considerably more information. 

17 April: Shareholders attending this year’s Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of Mikron Holding AG in Biel approve all the 
Board of Directors’ proposals and the distribution of CHF 
0.12 per share.

May: Mikron Boudry moves the pre-assembly, the mate-
rial logistics and the inventory into a new facility located 
close to the main building. The resulting improvement in 
logistics enables even shorter delivery times, particularly for 
the standard platform G05. 

4 June: Go-live of the revised ERP system at Mikron Au-
tomation’s Denver plant.

16 June: Three apprentice poly-mechanics from Mikron 
SA Boudry see off 1100 competitors to take three of the 
top-ranking places in “Tool Champions 2012”, the compe-
tition that honors the country’s top milling machine opera-
tors.

July: Mikron Machining expands its range of services in 
China and increases the size of the team in Shanghai.

7 August: Mikron Tool takes another step forward and 
expands its drilling program CrazyDrill Flex starting at 0.1 
mm diameter. Mikron is now able to achieve drilling depths 
up to 50 x D with integrated cooling which is indispensable 
for these extreme drilling depths. Also new is an option 
especially for the machining of titanium. 

16 August: Launch of Mikron’s free iPhone and iPad 
app, the quick and easy way to find all the most important 
information about our products and services.

October: Mikron Machining is present at four interna-
tional metalworking trade fairs and arouses great inter-
est among visitors with its machining systems and cutting 
tools, and receives numerous requests for quotations from 
both existing and potential new customers.

20 October: Mikron is one of six Ticino-based compa-
nies to hold an open day. The event was initiated by the 
Association of Ticino Manufacturers as part of its 50 years 
celebration, with the aim of getting young people excited 
about vocational training and careers in industry. Mikron 
achieves this goal many times over with guided tours, dem-
onstrations and countless face-to-face discussions.

22 October: A high-ranking delegation from the Chi-
nese Writing Association, the industry association for 
writing instrument manufacturers in China, visits Mikron 
in Agno. 95% of the world’s output of ballpoint pen tips 
are produced on Mikron systems. In other words, Mikron 
machines produce 145 million ballpoint pen tips every day.

November: The shell of Mikron Machining’s five-story 
main office building in Agno is fully refurbished. This en-
ables Mikron to reduce its energy consumption, while also 
improving workplace comfort and the building’s appear-
ance.

November: Mikron Automation achieves significant 
sales successes in China and the United States. A new Chi-
nese customer places two orders based on the EcoLine 
platform, whilst two major orders for systems based on the 
G05 platform are received in the US. 

4 December: CrazyDrill Flex is one of the outstand-
ing innovations to have emerged from Switzerland’s 
manufacturing industry in the past two years. That is 
the opinion of the judges responsible for the PRODEX 
Award, Switzerland’s most prestigious manufacturing and 
production prize. Mikron Tool SA Agno achieved second 
place with its CrazyDrill Flex micro drill.
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Mikron’s automation and machining solu-
tions may be encountered in many differ-
ent areas of our daily lives. For example:

On our bicycles and in our cars – custom-
ers use Mikron’s automation and ma-
chining solutions to manufacture airbag 
gas generators, belt tensioners, bicycle 
nipples, DC motors, diesel nozzle hold-
ers, expansion valves, gasoline injectors, 
injection bodies, pistons for ABS brakes, 
rocker arms, throttle valve shafts and 
many more.

In our residential and commercial build-
ings – among the manifold facility appli-
cations manufactured on Mikron’s solu-
tions are components for air conditioning 
units, door hinges, gas cookers, sprin-
klers, locks, halogen lamps, wall switches 
and washing machine switches.
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The Mikron G05 offers 
customized production 
solutions based on a high-
performance assembly 
platform combined with 
flexible feeding systems 
and a high-performance 
tray handler.
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Brief profile | Mikron Automation is one of the world’s 
leading manufacturers of customized, highly productive 
automation solutions for high-precision assembly and test-
ing of products up to hand-size.

Mikron Automation develops its automation solutions 
mainly on the basis of standardized, thoroughly proven 
product platforms that feature high modularity, precision, 
durability and short delivery times and enable customers 
to substantially reduce their project risks. The division pos-
sesses extensive, long-standing experience in integrating 
complex assembly and test processes, and has built up ad-
ditional expertise in-house, for example in flexible feeding 
systems and in the field of control processes based on vi-
sion technology. A wide range of services allows customers 
to make efficient use of their investment and to adapt their 
automation solution to changing needs over its entire life 
span.

The division makes the majority of its sales in the medical 
devices, pharmaceutical, automotive and consumer goods 
industries. To date Mikron Automation’s main markets have 
been in Western Europe and the USA. Mikron Automation 
is now also rapidly gaining a foothold in the Asian market 
with its locally manufactured automation solutions based 
on the EcoLine product platform.

Mikron Automation comprises the five engineering and 
production companies Mikron SA Boudry (Switzerland, 
headquarters), Mikron Berlin GmbH (Germany), Mikron 
Corp. Denver (USA), Mikron Singapore Pte Ltd and Mikron 
Shanghai Ltd (China).

Mikron
Automation
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Mikron
Automation

A full range of platforms allows Mikron Auto-
mation to provide its customers in the automo-
tive industry with the best solutions for their 
requirements. The main solutions are based 
on standard, proven platforms. This modular, 
hybrid concept comprises manual workstations 
and semi-automatic and fully automatic cells 
that facilitate lean manufacturing solutions 
and progressive investment opportunities for 
maximum returns. The systems’ high level of 
standardization and modularity opens up a 
wide range of opportunities for redeployment 
on new products. Custom solutions are used 
to meet specific customer requirements where 
the standard platforms are not appropriate.

For example ABS valves, airbag gas genera-
tors, belt tensioners, DC motors, door hinges, 
fluid quick connectors, fuel injectors, halogen 
lamps, initiators, seat belt buckles and sensors.
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For automation customers 
in North America, Mikron 
employees at the Denver 
facility engineer, manufac-
ture and install automation 
solutions based on standard 
Mikron platforms.



20 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Mikron Automation
Environment, Markets, Technology, 
Strategic projects

Economic environment | At the beginning of the 
year in particular, Mikron Automation’s customers were still 
very cautious about placing orders for new automation so-
lutions. The strong Swiss franc put pressure on prices with 
a negative impact on the Boudry site.

Geographical markets | Europe, Mikron Automa-
tion’s key market, experienced mixed development in 2012. 
While demand from Germany was encouragingly positive, 
the business segment won very few new projects in Italy, 
France and Spain. Overall, Mikron Automation substantially 
increased order intake from Europe in 2012. 

In addition, the business segment experienced positive mar-
ket developments in the USA, where the company serves 
almost exclusively customers from the medical de vices and 
pharmaceutical industries. Mikron Automation succeeded 
in winning a number of new American customers with 
great potential for the future. Mikron’s offer to first build a 
pilot assembly solution for new products, which can then 
be expanded at a later stage when the customer’s produc-
tion volumes increase, is proving very popular with Ameri-
can customers.

In Asia, and in China in particular, Mikron Automation ex-
ploited the trend towards greater automation and gener-
ated a higher order intake. Asia’s contribution to the vol-
ume of the business segment is still modest, but Mikron 
Automation has succeeded in winning a number of new 

Mikron Automation substan-
tially increased order in-
take from Europe in 2012.

Mikron Automation has suc-
ceeded in winning a number 
of new customers in China 
and India.

Mikron Automation’s 
management team; 
from left to right: 
Josef Neuenschwander, 
Andreas Lam, Mike Gunner, 
Rolf Rihs, Alex Wyss, Félix 
Arrieta, Andreas Nowak
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Mikron Automation

The takeover of IMA Automa-
tion Berlin in March 2012 
has opened up new applica-
tions and facilitated access 
to the German automotive 
industry.

Mikron Automation booked 
the twentieth order for  
its latest Mikron EcoLine 
assembly platform.

customers in China and India, particularly in the medical 
devices industry. In order to save costs and ensure proxim-
ity to customers, these orders are processed wholly by the 
Singapore and Shanghai plants.
 
Market segments | In addition to the medical de-
vices and pharmaceutical industries, the automotive and 
consumer goods industries are also key market segments 
for Mikron Automation. The takeover of IMA Automation 
Berlin in March 2012 has opened up new applications and 
facilitated access to the German automotive industry. The 
acquired business, which now operates under the name Mi-
kron Berlin, made a substantial contribution to the growth 
of Mikron Automation in the year under review, generating 
numerous new orders. 

Technology | The further development and cost opti-
mization of the G05 and EcoLine assembly platforms con-
tinued successfully in 2012. During the year under review, 
Mikron Automation booked the twentieth order for its Mi-
kron EcoLine assembly platform. This innovative assembly 
system was specially developed for the emerging markets 
of Asia. Thanks to this successful market entry, Mikron Au-
tomation now has an excellent gateway for further growth 
in this region. Furthermore, the new assembly platform has 
also attracted customers’ interest in Europe, with orders 
received from both the automotive and medical devices in-
dustries. Mikron manufactures the EcoLine platform to a 
significant extent in Singapore.

Strategic projects | The integration of IMA Automa-
tion Berlin – now Mikron Berlin – as an additional produc-
tion site progressed according to plan. In addition, Mikron 
Automation adapted the organization at its headquarters 
in Boudry to the current market conditions with the aim 
of further increasing productivity. As part of the expansion 
of the business segment’s activities in Asia, Mikron Auto-
mation reached an important milestone with its successful 
first-time ISO 9001 certification for the Shanghai site. This 
means that all of the business segment’s sites are now cer-
tified. 

Business performance | In Europe, Mikron Automa-
tion generated a satisfactory order intake when viewed in 
overall terms. Boudry received around 20% more orders 
than in the previous year. However, as the year began with 
a limited order backlog and the new orders only came in 
from the second quarter onwards, capacity utilization at 
the Boudry site was much lower in the first half of the year 
than in the second. Certain challenging customer projects 
could only be completed delayed and with significantly 

Boudry received around 20% 
more orders than in the 
previous year.
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Mikron Automation
Business performance, Employees, Goals, 
Outlook

Mikron Berlin posted a posi-
tive result that exceeded 
expectations.

In CHF million, except number of employees 2012 2011 +/- %

Order intake 113.0 77.1 46.6

Net sales 101.2 88.1 14.9

Order backlog 58.3 34.2 70.5

EBIT -1.6  0.1 n.a.

Number of employees 554 455 21.8

higher costs than originally envisaged. This factor, together 
with the irregular capacity utilization and low margins that 
were attributable to high competitive pressures resulting 
from the strong Swiss franc, led to a negative result in 
Boudry. 

By contrast, Mikron Berlin posted a positive result that 
exceeded expectations. Strong demand from German au-
tomotive suppliers, led to significantly higher orders than 
in previous years. In the USA, the change of management 
that took effect in mid-2011 has had positive repercussions. 
The organization in Denver has been optimized further, and 
parts of the local team strengthened. Good overall capacity 
utilization together with the various improvement projects 
resulted in a better operating result than the previous year. 

In Asia, Mikron Automation continued to invest in the 
build-up of local expertise in 2012. In Singapore, the fruits 
of this investment became apparent with an encouraging 
increase in order intake in the second half of the year. Mik-
ron Automation strengthened the local team in Shanghai, 
particularly in the areas of sales and project execution. This 
site also serves as Mikron Machining’s base for services in 
China since 2012. 

Employees | At the end of 2012, Mikron Automation 
employed a total of 554 people. The increase of around 
20% is primarily attributable to the takeover of IMA Au-
tomation Berlin. The initial and further training of staff is 
something the Automation business segment attaches 
great importance to. The Boudry site, for example, has 
housed a centre to train polymechanics apprentices for 
more than 30 years. The “Tool Champions 2012” competi-
tion, which honors the best milling machine operators in 
Switzerland, saw no less than three polymechanics appren-
tices achieve a top ranking. 

Goals | In the current business year, Mikron Automation 
is seeking to expand its global presence further and reduce 
its dependency on the European market. In the long term, 

Mikron Automation attaches 
great importance to the  
initial and further training 
of staff.

Key figures
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the business segment is expecting significant growth in de-
mand for automation solutions in Asia, especially in China. 
Drivers of increasing automation include rising wage costs, 
a lack of qualified personnel, and increasing pressure to im-
prove quality. Mikron Automation is ideally placed to take 
advantage of this growth with its Singapore and Shang-
hai sites and its EcoLine assembly platform. The business 
segment is looking to expand its Asian subsidiaries further, 
and to encourage the transfer of knowledge and experi-
ence between the still-new Asian sites and its headquar-
ters in Switzerland. In the USA, Mikron Automation will 
win further important projects and customers thanks to its 
state-of-the-art products and strong application expertise 
in the medical devices and pharmaceutical industry. Steady 
further development of the two assembly platforms in line 

with customer needs will enable Mikron Automation to win 
new customers and applications in the saturated markets 
of Europe too. By consistently implementing ongoing im-
provement projects at all sites, the business segment will 
increase productivity and thereby significantly improve its 
operating result. 

Outlook | As the German manufacturing industry has 
lost a certain amount of momentum, Mikron Automation 
is expecting a slightly lower order intake in 2013 than the 
previous year. Thanks to the stronger order backlog at the 
beginning of the year, however, the business segment is 
expecting slightly higher annual sales. Overall, Mikron Au-
tomation is anticipating a positive result for the 2013 finan-
cial year. 

High demand for Mikron’s pilot  
production lines in the USA

The medical device industry demands more than just high-
volume assembly solutions. In the introductory phase of a 
new medical device, they need to manufacture around a 
thousand parts for trials and FDA approval. The challenge 
is that they need to confirm the critical manufacturing pro-
cesses under the same conditions as in later full-volume in-
dustrial production – but they want to do so without yet 
investing in a full-volume production line. Mikron Automa-
tion’s expertise and many years of experience in the high-
volume production of medical devices can also be applied 
to such pilot production batches. The EcoLine Pilot assembly 
system makes it possible to manufacture and test medical 
devices up to hand size in small volumes under real condi-
tions. Later, the EcoLine Pilot assembly line can either be up-
graded to handle higher production volumes or the critical 
manufacturing processes can be transferred one-to-one to 
a high-speed assembly line based on the G05 platform. All 
assembly processes are fully transferable throughout Mikron 
Automation’s product range. Previously, customers had to 
rely on systems from other providers for the pilot manufac-
turing phase. Today they can work with Mikron from the pi-
lot manufacturing phase up to full industrial production and 
be supported by the same Mikron project team. The knowl-
edge acquired in the pilot manufacturing phase can thus be 
implemented accurately in the production of larger volumes. 
This substantially reduces the risk and time for the customer. 

In the USA, Mikron has already provided many customers 
with such global solutions. Customers appreciate being 
able to work with the same partner throughout the whole 
production process, and by building a pilot manufactur-
ing line with Mikron they have a lower investment risk and 
more flexibility when expanding the system at a later date. 
Mikron Automation serves the entire American continent 
from its production site in Denver with more than 50 em-
ployees. The majority of its customers come from the medi-
cal devices and pharmaceutical industries.
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Mikron supports customers 
in achieving their ambitious 
objectives in terms of the 
highest precision and qual-
ity. Mikron Tool acts as a 
technology partner from 
the product development 
stage and cutting trials right 
through to high-volume 
production. This requires in-
depth inspection during the 
production process.
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Brief profile | Mikron Machining is a leading supplier 
of customized, highly productive machining solutions for 
the manufacturing of complex high-precision components 
made of metal. Customers benefit from Mikron’s unique 
expertise in developing manufacturing solutions with 
matching high-performance cutting tools. A wide range 
of services underscores Mikron’s professionalism, flexibility 
and partnership-based attitude to its customers.

Throughout the entire product life cycle, customers benefit 
from the expertise of Mikron Machining, which has been 
developing and producing metal-removing machining sys-
tems for over 100 years.

The Division generates most of its sales to customers in 
the automotive industry and is also well established in the 
writing instruments, electric/electronics, consumer goods, 
hydraulic/pneumatic and construction/building markets. Its 
largest sales market at present is Europe, particularly Ger-
many. The Asian market is increasingly growing in impor-
tance.

Mikron Machining comprises the three engineering and 
production companies Mikron SA Agno (Switzerland, 
headquarters), Mikron Tool SA Agno (Switzerland) and Mi-
kron GmbH Rottweil (Germany), and the sales and service 
company Mikron Corp. Monroe (USA).

Mikron
Machining
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Mikron Machining offers the ideal 
machining solutions and production 
concepts in many different markets 
and for countless applications, such 
as for the manufacture of refrigera-
tor compressor components: pistons, 
shafts and conrods.

Mikron’s state-of-the-art machining 
systems are the perfect solution to 
meet all the requirements for the 
economical production of spectacle 
parts, such as hinges and spectacle 
spring boxes. Mikron has collaborated 
for years with the best-known sup-
pliers of parts for eyeglasses, pro-
viding them with the most suitable 
processing solution: the Mikron NAM 
systems.
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The completely modular 
Mikron NRG-50 transfer 
machine impresses with its 
high precision, flexibility 
with up to 30 simultane-
ously working units, and 
highly productive 6-sided 
machining for the manufac-
turing of a broad spectrum 
of applications.
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Mikron Machining
Environment, Markets, Technology, Stra-
tegic projects, Business performance

Economic environment | Mikron Machining faced 
a challenging economic environment in 2012. The strong 
Swiss franc put pressure on prices, while the difficult situa-
tion in some European countries had a negative impact on 
demand for capital goods. After a pleasing first six months, 
orders fell considerably in the second half of the year – par-
ticularly in Germany, the segment’s key sales market. On 
the other hand, demand in Asia remained at a good level, 
especially in China, as well as in the USA. 

Geographical markets | Although Mikron Machin-
ing’s business in Switzerland developed well in 2012, the 
segment still generated more than 80% of its annual sales 
from exports, with Germany remaining the most important 
sales market. The machines business in China continued to 
gain in significance. Mikron has already built up a good 
reputation in this market. 

Market segments | The automotive supply, watch-
making and writing instruments industries are still the key 
market segments for Mikron Machining. The business seg-
ment further expanded its customer base and fields of ap-
plication in these industries. By continuously developing its 
product portfolio, Mikron Machining has also been able to 
implement a number of projects outside these established 
market segments.

After a pleasing first six 
months, orders fell consid-
erably in the second half 
of the year – particularly 
in Germany.

The business segment ex-
panded its customer base 
and fields of application.

Mikron Machining’s  
management team; 
from left to right: 
Frank Ringat, 
Andrea Cassineri, 
Axel Warth, 
Mirko Passerini, 
Bruno Cathomen, 
Markus Schnyder, 
Laurent Vuille, 
Walter Sayer, 
Federico Fumagalli
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Working closely with custom-
ers, the business segment 
developed new applications 
and perfected various ma-
chining processes.

Technology | In the year under review, Mikron Ma-
chining successfully developed and improved its existing 
machinery platforms. Working closely with customers, the 
business segment developed new applications and per-
fected various machining processes. In the tools business 
too, Mikron implemented new machining and logistics pro-
cesses and is now able to supply its customers with even 
better tools even more quickly. CrazyDrill Flex is one of the 
outstanding innovations to have emerged from Switzer-
land’s manufacturing industry in the past two years. That, 
at least, is the opinion of the judges responsible for the 
PRODEX Award, Switzerland’s most prestigious manufac-
turing and production prize. At the eponymous trade fair 
in Basel, Mikron’s flexible micro drill came second in the 
awards for the most outstanding innovations in the area of 
machine tools, tools and measurement technology. 

Strategic projects | In 2012, Mikron Machining suc-
cessfully implemented a number of strategic initiatives. At 
the start of the year, the business segment introduced a 
new ERP system at two of its sites. In China, Mikron Ma-
chining expanded its service hub as planned and increased 
the size of the team in this location. In Switzerland and 
Germany, Mikron Machining upgraded its infrastructure 
and adapted various processes and procedures to the new 
operating conditions. 

Business performance | After a very good order in-
take in the previous year, demand for machines and tools 
flattened out noticeably in the 2012 financial year. This par-
ticularly applies to orders from the German automotive in-
dustry in the second half of the year. However, the business 
segment was able to at least partially offset these losses 
with orders from other industries and regions. The demand 
from Asia continued to develop well. In the southern Eu-
ropean countries, however, investment activities remained 
at a similarly weak level as in previous years. Due to the 
good order backlog at the beginning of the year, Mikron 
Machining was able to make good use of capacity at all of 
its plants throughout the year.

Employees | At the end of 2012, Mikron Machining em-
ployed 535 people worldwide. Headcount increased slight-
ly at most sites and is in total about 5% higher than in the 
previous year. Throughout the year, great importance was 
placed on communicating the newly formulated shared Mi-
kron Values as well as investing in systematic and continu-
ous training for its employees. The technical complexity of 
the products and the highly international customer base 
present a major challenge for all our employees and man-
agers. At the same time, this diverse and dynamic environ-

Mikron Machining

Due to the good order back-
log at the beginning of the 
year, Mikron Machining was 
able to utilize capacity at 
all of its plants well over 
the full year.



32 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Mikron Machining
Employees, Sustainability, Goals, Outlook

All Mikron machines are 
certified by accredited 
certification agencies to 
European standards.

In CHF million, except number of employees 2012 2011 +/- %

Order intake 123.6 148.3 -16.7

Net sales 134.3 123.3 8.9

Order backlog 51.2 61.7 -17.0

EBIT 9.9  7.1 39.4

Number of employees 535 512 4.5

ment offers them excellent opportunities to gain experi-
ence and develop their personal skills.

Sustainability | As well as developing and enhancing 
its products, Mikron Machining has also been investing in 
their sustainability for many years. All machines are certified 
by accredited certification agencies to European standards 
(type examination certificates), and all production sites use 
an ISO-audited quality, safety and environmental manage-
ment system. In 2012, Mikron Machining fully refurbished 
the shell of its five-story main office building in Agno. This 
enabled Mikron to reduce its energy consumption, while 
also improving workplace comfort and the building’s ap-
pearance.

Goals | During the current financial year, Mikron Machin-
ing aims to further expand its presence in the key markets. 
It will continue to optimize its already outstanding prod-
ucts and tailor them even more to the growing needs of 
its customers. Mikron Machining will also be implementing 
some IT projects in 2013 which will enable all employees to 
collaborate more closely and efficiently in the future, and to 
access the data they need more quickly. Aided by modern 
information technology, service processes and tool distri-
bution will also become faster and more effective. 

Outlook | In the long term, the business segment an-
ticipates further significant growth in the global machine 
tools market. This will also benefit Mikron Machining, with 
its outstanding global reputation in the niche market for 
complex, highly productive precision machinery. Demand 
will continue to grow in China especially. By expanding its 
service hub in China, Mikron Machining is well prepared to 
meet the country’s increasing demand. 

Mikron Machining will con-
tinue to optimize its al-
ready outstanding products 
and tailor them even more 
to the growing needs of its 
customers.

Key figures
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Machining solutions for the new China

In recent years, China’s economy has not only enjoyed 
unparalleled growth, it has also undergone fundamental 
structural change. The country is making every effort to 
move away from solely producing cheap goods and de-
velop a more sophisticated industrial structure. At the same 
time, China is aiming to reduce inequalities in wealth. The 
consequence is that China is becoming a high-performing 
production centre but a more expensive one. Labor costs 
are rising rapidly and companies are having difficulty in 
finding and retaining skilled staff. As a result, in China too, 
companies are being obliged to produce more efficiently 
and to manufacture high-quality products with as few em-
ployees as possible.

By developing the Multistar CX-24, Mikron Machining has 
created a transfer machine which satisfies both the current 
and future requirements of the Chinese market: it is extraor-
dinarily rapid, extremely precise and versatile. The Multistar 
CX-24 is ideal for the series production of parts families and 
workpieces with demanding processing parameters. The 
machine controls the spindle movements via linear cams. 
The rapidly interchangeable control cams guarantee excel-
lent processing flexibility. These highly-productive rotary 
transfer machines operate economically – even with batch 
sizes of only a few thousand workpieces of each part vari-
ant. The precise interplay between every element ensures 
perfect processing quality even if operated for long periods. 
24 additional intermediate stations permit measuring, in-
spection and cleaning processes within the processing cycle.

On behalf of a Chinese customer which employs turning, 
drilling and deburring processes to manufacture two SUS03 
steel workpieces, Mikron has calculated the efficiency en-

Taking a short-term view, Mikron Machining’s business is 
characterized by uncertainty and the economic slowdown 
in Europe. Accordingly, the business segment started 2013 
with a considerably lower backlog of work than in 2012 but 
expects demand to recover around the middle of the year. 
For the 2013 financial year, Mikron Machining expects sales 
to fall slightly, despite a sound portfolio of mid- to long-
term customer projects. Mikron Machining’s main priorities 
for the 2013 financial year are to maintain the pleasing EBIT 
margin and to acquire new customers.

hancements which can be achieved with the Multistar CX-
24. The traditional method involved two shifts of 26 em-
ployees working at 130 conventional lathes. With a produc-
tion line consisting of nine Multistar CX-24 machines, the 
customer now needs just ten conventional lathes. Since nu-
merous manual tasks are no longer necessary, the customer 
is able to achieve the same output with two eight-man 
shifts. The production area will also reduce from 5000 m2 
to 850 m2. The conversion process began at the end of 2012 
with the delivery of the first two Multistar CX-24 machines.

The Multistar CX-24 means that fewer em-
ployees, fewer machines and less space 
is needed; the parts are produced more 
precisely and unit costs drop dramati-
cally. As a consequence Mikron is helping 
Chinese customers to set new standards of 
production.
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Mikron
Corporate Governance
The corporate governance report describes the main principles and regulations regarding 
the management and control of the Mikron Group and how these principles and regulations 
were established in detail by the company’s senior management. The report is in compli-
ance with the SIX Swiss Exchange guidelines last revised as of 29 October 2008 regarding 
information on corporate governance. Aspects of the SIX guidelines not covered in this 
report are either not applicable or irrelevant to the Mikron Group.

Corporate structure & shareholders

Corporate structure
Based in Biel, Mikron Holding AG is organized as a holding company under Swiss law and directly or indirectly holds all 
Mikron companies worldwide. Mikron Holding AG is listed on SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich (Security Symbol MIKN/ISIN 
CH0003390066) and on 31 December 2012 had a market capitalization of CHF 84.1 million. The Mikron Group is orga-
nized by divisions. For the purposes of reporting, two business segments and the Corporate Service organization have 
been identified.

The segments are structured according to product and service type and encompass all the functions required by an inde-
pendent company, such as sales, development, production, logistics and administration. The centralized special depart-
ments, such as Accounting and Controlling, Treasury, Corporate Communications and Corporate IT Services, are part of 
the Corporate Service, which supports the individual companies as well as the Board of Directors and Group Management 
in their management and control functions. Among other things, the Corporate Service reports the income and expendi-
ture related to an industrial property that is not required for operations and is rented out to third parties.

The Mikron Group consists of 11 active companies worldwide. The corporate structure and the companies are listed on 
page 97. The Mikron Group’s management structure is independent of its legal structure.

Significant shareholders
The following table illustrates the shareholder structure of Mikron Holding AG. It also lists and names those shareholders 
who, as at 31 December 2012, hold 3% or more of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG.

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
 Number of shares Number of shares
Shareholders of CHF 0.10 par value each of CHF 0.10 par value each

Group of investors1) 11,742,941 70.3% 11,742,941 70.3%
Isabel Pirkin 549,428 3.3% 639,835  3.8%
Public shareholders 4,318,535 25.8% 4,232,208 25.3%

Board of Directors and Group Management 101,840 0.6% 97,760 0.6%

Total 16,712,744 100.0% 16,712,744 100.0%

1) This group of investors comprises Ammann Group Holding AG, Mr Rudolf Maag, Tegula AG, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG and Corporate Invest-
ment Management Affentranger Holding AG, who are bound together by a shareholder pooling agreement until May 2013. There were no changes in 
this shareholding during the year under review. 

Further information on the shareholder structure and corporate structure is given on page 92 and 97.

Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings consisting of either capital or voting rights.
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Capital structure

The Mikron Group’s capital as at 31 December 2012

 Registered shares Par value in CHF Total in CHF

Ordinary capital 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40
Authorized capital 0  0.00
Conditional capital 620,799 0.10 62,079.90

The company’s share capital may increase by a maximum amount of CHF 62,079.90 through the issuance of 620,799 fully 
paid-up registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10 each 
 – through the exercise of options or conversion rights granted to their holders in connection with the company’s bonds 

or similar debentures
 – and/or the exercise of option rights allotted to the shareholders and/or the company’s Board of Directors and management.

The number of registered shares securing management option rights is limited to a maximum of 550,000. As at the cut-
off date, the company had not issued any options or entered into any commitments that would result in these registered 
shares being created.

Further information on the capital structure is given on page 91.

Changes in capital over the last three years

in CHF Number of shares Par value Ordinary capital
    
2010 As at 1 January 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40
 Change 0 0.10 0.00
 As at 31 December 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40

2011 As at 1 January 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40
 Change 0 0.10 0.00
 As at 31 December 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40

2012 As at 1 January 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40
 Change 0 0.10 0.00
 As at 31 December 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40

Shares
The issued registered shares are fully paid in. Each registered share carries one vote at Mikron Holding AG’s Annual Gen-
eral Meetings. Voting rights may be exercised only after the shareholder has been entered as a shareholder with voting 
rights in Mikron Holding AG’s share register. All shares have equal dividend rights.

Participation and dividend right certificates
Mikron Holding AG has issued neither participation certificates nor dividend right certificates.

Limits on transferability and nominee registrations
There are no limitations on transferability or nominee registrations.

Convertible bonds and options
There are no convertible bonds or options outstanding. 
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Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors
The company’s Board of Directors consists of five members. None of them maintains a significant business relationship 
with the Group. 

The following table provides information on each of the members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2012:

Heinrich Spoerry 
lic. oec., MBA
Swiss, born in 1951
Chairman, non-executive
First elected 2001, elected until 2013

 

Eduard Rikli 
Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH
Swiss, born in 1951
Vice-Chairman, non-executive
First elected 2010, elected until 2013

  

Peter Forstmoser  
Prof. Dr. iur., LL.M.
Swiss, born in 1943
Member, non-executive
First elected 1976, elected until 2013

  

From 1987 to 1995 Heinrich Spoerry was a member of the 
Executive Board of Staefa Control Systems AG in his capac-
ity as Head of Finance, Controlling and Information Tech-
nology. He held a seat on the Executive Board at Cerberus 
AG, a fire detection and security systems manufacturer in 
Männedorf, from 1996 to 1998. Heinrich Spoerry then be-
came Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of the 
SFS Group in Heerbrugg, a position he has occupied since 
1998. He is a member of the Board of Directors of Tegula 
AG in Zurich and of Bucher Industries AG. Heinrich Spoerry 
has been a member of Mikron’s Board of Directors since 
2001 and its Chairman since 2010.

After many years in various managerial positions at the Sul-
zer Group, Eduard Rikli – as a member of the Executive 
Board – headed the Sulzer Services and Equipment division 
from 2000 to 2001 and the Sulzer Metco division from 
2001 to 2003. He was CEO of Mikron from 2004 to 2009. 
In 2010, Eduard Rikli was appointed to the Board of Direc-
tors and was elected Vice-Chairman. He is Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Repower AG and Brütsch/Ruegger, 
and is also a member of the Board of Directors of a number 
of SMEs. Eduard Rikli also sits on the Board of Trustees of 
the Zurich College of Technology, Technopark Zurich and 
Technorama.

Peter Forstmoser was professor of civil, commercial and 
capital market law at the University of Zurich from 1974 
to 2008 and has been a partner at the Zurich law firm Nie-
derer Kraft & Frey since 1975. From 2000 to 2009 he was 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the global reinsurer 
Swiss Re. He chairs the Board of Directors at EFG Financial 
Products Holding AG, Zurich and Hesta AG, Zug. Mr Forst-
moser is a member of the Board of Directors of PSP Swiss 
Property AG, AFIAA Anlagestiftung, Familie Ernst Basler 
AG, as well as of Remer Holding AG and of Niederer Kraft 
& Frey AG. 
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Andreas Steiner  
Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH
Swiss, born in 1945
Member, non-executive
First elected 2003, elected until 2015

 
  

Patrick Kilchmann  
Dipl. phys. ETH, lic. oec. HSG
Swiss, born in 1958
Member, non-executive
First elected 2011, elected until 2014

   

As announced on 20 November 2012 Peter Forstmoser reached the age limit defined in the Group’s Organizational Rules 
and will therefore step down from the Board with effect from the Annual General Meeting on 9 April 2013. Dr. Andreas 
Casutt, partner in the well-known law firm of Niederer Kraft & Frey, has been proposed for election to the Board of Direc-
tors at the Annual General Meeting.

Elections and terms of office
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the company’s Board of Directors consists of at least five and at most nine mem-
bers, who are elected by the Annual General Meeting for a three-year term and who may be re-elected to successive terms.

Irrespective of the term of office being served or the amount of time until the next election, members of the Board of 
Directors are subject to an age limit of 70 years. 

Duties
The duties of Mikron Holding AG’s Board of Directors are defined in the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Articles of Incor-
poration (www.mikron.com/aoi) and the Organizational Rules. The procedures of the committees are also set out in the 
Organizational Rules. The Organizational Rules are reviewed annually. 

The Board of Directors is the company’s most senior body with responsibility for management supervision. It issues guide-
lines on corporate policy and keeps itself informed about the course of business.

The Board of Directors has the following inalienable and non-transferable duties:
 – Ultimate direction of the Group and issuing the necessary directives; therefore, developing the Group’s strategic objec-

tives and determining the means of achieving these objectives, setting out the business policy, establishment, acquisi-
tion, disposal and liquidation of subsidiaries, mergers and de-mergers

 – Determining the Group organizational structure and approval of the Code of Business Conduct
 – Shaping accounting as well as financial controlling, financial planning and internal controls, oversight of the financial 

stability of the Group
 – Appointing and dismissing persons entrusted with the management of business operations and representation duties, 

in addition to regulating signatory powers

Andreas Steiner was a member of the Management Com-
mittee of ABB Switzerland from 1993 to 1999. From 1999 
to 2007 he was CEO and member of the Board of Directors 
at Belimo Holding AG, Hinwil. Mr Steiner is a member of 
the Board of Trustees at the Hasler Foundation in Berne.

Patrick Kilchmann was Head of Personnel Development at 
Sandoz AG, Basel from 1986 to 1990. From 1990 to 1992 
he was Sales Engineer at Schindler AG, Ebikon, and from 
1992 to 2002 he worked in various management positions, 
finally as Head of Business Development and member of 
the Executive Board of Sulzer AG, Winterthur. Since 2002 
Patrick Kilchmann has held several management positions, 
most recently Head of Group Services and member of the 
Executive Board of the Ammann Group, Langenthal. He 
chairs the Board of Directors of Ammobilien AG, Langen-
thal and is a member of the Board of Directors of Transmis-
sion Technology Holding AG, Zug.
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 – Ultimate supervision of the persons entrusted with the management of the Group to ensure they comply with the law, 
the Articles of Incorporation, and other regulations and directives

 – Preparing the annual report and the Annual General Meeting and executing resolutions passed by the latter
 – Notifying the courts in the event of insolvency
 – Resolutions on acknowledging any capital increases that have been completed and corresponding amendments to the 

Articles of Incorporation
 – Verifying the professional qualifications of the state-supervised audit firm
 – Determining the risk management principles and the internal control system as well as performing risk assessments

In addition, the Board of Directors is assigned the following significant duties and competencies under the Organizational 
Rules:
 – Decisions on the annual budget and the mid-term planning
 – Decisions concerning the purchase and sale of land and real estate for sums in excess of CHF 3 million, as well as rental 

agreements involving an obligation of CHF 3 million until the first opportunity to terminate
 – Decisions on sureties and pledges of more than CHF 5 million
 – Decisions on restructuring of subsidiaries with expected costs, subordination or write-off of loans exceeding CHF 1 million
 – Decisions on investments/disposals of production and IT equipment of more than CHF 2 million if budgeted and  

CHF 1 million if not budgeted
 – Decisions on internal developments of more than CHF 2 million
 – Granting of loans to corporate bodies, employees and third parties of more than CHF 0.25 million in any individual 

instance

The duties of the two committees of the Board of Directors are described in more detail in the appropriate sections below. 

The Board of Directors delegates all management duties to Group Management to the extent permitted by law and by the 
Articles of Incorporation. The Organizational Rules contain details related to the delegation of competencies. 

Procedures
The Board of Directors convenes as often as business requires but at least once every quarter. During the 2012 business 
year, the Board held seven meetings as well as one teleconference. The physical meetings lasted between three and eight 
hours, and the teleconference about one hour. Each meeting of the Board of Directors in the year under review was at-
tended by all members.

Approval of the annual financial statements and preparation for the Annual General Meeting normally take place at the 
first meeting of the year, while the budget and – if applicable – the updated mid-term planning are approved at the final 
meeting of the year. 

The members of Group Management attended all meetings. 

The members of the Board of Directors generally receive documentation five working days prior to meetings, allowing 
them to be properly prepared to discuss the items on the agenda.

A quorum of the Board of Directors is reached when at least half of the members are present. However, a two-third ma-
jority of members must be present for some resolutions such as amendments to the Organizational Rules, constitution 
of the Board of Directors, approval of the annual financial statements, approval of the budget, appointing or dismissing 
members of the Group Management. The Board passes its resolutions by a majority of the votes cast. In the event of a 
tie, the Chairman has the deciding vote. 
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Committees
Two committees were set up to support the Board of Directors: the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 
The committees meet regularly and are required to prepare minutes of their meetings and recommendations for perusal 
at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors. The committees notify the full Board of Directors of urgent matters 
immediately.

Audit Committee
The following primary tasks are assigned to the Audit Committee: 
 – Maintaining a comprehensive and efficient audit concept and internal control system (ICS) for Mikron Holding AG and 

the Mikron Group
 – Rating the external and internal auditors in terms of their independence, qualifications and (mandate-related) experi-

ence of their employees and making a proposal to the Board of Directors regarding the election of external and internal 
auditors

 – Assessing the systems and scope of the audit approach, as well as the content, clarity and timely completion of reports
 – Approving the key audit areas, reviewing the results of the audits, supervising the rectification of any weaknesses 

identified
 – Approving the budget for the external and internal audit activities and of non-audit related services exceeding CHF 0.1 

million
 – Monitoring compliance with the accounting principles, financial control mechanisms and regular examination of the 

Group’s risk matrix; implementing measures decided in relation to key risks
 – Evaluation and proposal to the Board of Directors regarding the approval of the annual and semi-annual reports of 

Mikron Holding AG and the Mikron Group 

The Audit Committee’s decisions are subject to approval by the full Board of Directors.

The members of the Audit Committee in the year under review were the Board members Peter Forstmoser (Chairman) and 
Andreas Steiner. The Audit Committee meets four to six times each year. Four meetings were held in the 2012 business 
year, each lasting one to three hours. All members attended the meetings. The CFO and CEO attended the meetings on be-
half of Group Management. Representatives of the internal auditors and of the external auditors were invited to the meet-
ings as required. The external auditors were partially present at three meetings and the internal auditors at two meetings.

At its second meeting of the year, the Audit Committee normally assesses the annual financial statements in the presence 
of the external auditors. The summer meeting usually approves the external auditors’ audit plan and assesses internal audit 
reports. At its autumn meeting, if not postponed to the next meeting, the Committee is above all informed of the status of 
the internal control system (ICS). The December meeting focuses on discussing the interim reports of the external auditors, 
the internal audit plan for the following year as well as the risk matrix and the upcoming year end close. 

Remuneration Committee
The following primary tasks are assigned to the Remuneration Committee:
 – Submitting proposals to the Board of Directors regarding the compensation policy for the Board of Directors and Group 

Management (details of the Mikron Group’s compensation policy are given on page 44)
 – Examining the appropriateness of the compensation of the individual members of the Board of Directors and Group 

Management based on periodic market comparisons
 – Determining the compensation to be paid annually to the members of Group Management
 – Submitting to the Board of Directors proposals concerning the compensation to be paid to its members

The members of the Remuneration Committee in the year under review were the Board members Eduard Rikli (Chair-
man) and Patrick Kilchmann. The Remuneration Committee meets one to two times each year, usually in December and 
after the results for the financial year have been prepared and the audited annual financial statements are available. One 
meeting was held in the 2012 business year and was attended by all members. The meeting lasted about two hours. The 
members of Group Management have no right of participation or co-determination on this Committee.



42 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Mikron Corporate Governance

Information and control instruments vis-à-vis Group Management
The following measures ensure that the Board of Directors has sufficient information for an adequate decision-making 
process:
 – Income statement and financial key performance indicators are reported on a monthly basis, while full financial state-

ments (income statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement) are prepared quarterly. These figures are consoli-
dated at Group, division and legal entity level. They are compared against the prior-year figures, the monthly budget 
and the forecast, which is revised on a quarterly basis, then sent to the Board of Directors following discussion within 
Group Management.

 – Within the same structure, a mid-term plan spanning three years is prepared every two to three years in addition to the 
budget and both are presented to the Board of Directors for approval.

 – Each month, the division heads (Chief Operating Officers) report at the Group Management meeting on the operating 
performance, the status of sales activities and the progress on plans to increase profits and implement strategy. These 
reports are presented in summary form at meetings of the Board of Directors. 

 – By request, other managers from outside Group Management and external consultants will attend meetings of the 
Board of Directors and Group Management to report on their areas of responsibility or special projects.

 – Between the meetings of the Board of Directors, internal and external reports are submitted in advance to the Board 
of Directors.

 – A risk matrix is drawn up in the divisions based on a Group template and updated at least twice a year. It quantifies risks 
based on their likelihood of occurrence and the potential impact on the Group’s EBIT. A consolidated matrix is reported 
to the Board of Directors once a year. It notes the report and approves control measures in relation to the key risks. 
The operational risks are normally discussed once a month at Group Management meetings. The Group Management 
reports major emerging risks to the Chairman of the Board of Directors immediately.

 – The Audit Committee meets regularly with the CFO, the external auditors and the internal auditors. It coordinates the 
work of the auditors and receives their reports as well as those of the CFO. Ernst & Young has been given a mandate 
to perform the internal audit function. 

 – Group Management attends the meetings of the Board of Directors.
 – The Chairman of the Board of Directors periodically attends Group Management meetings and holds discussions with 

the individual members of Group Management.

Group Management must notify the Chairman of the Board of Directors immediately when significant unanticipated de-
velopments occur. The members of the Board of Directors may request additional information from members of Group 
Management.

Once a year, the Board of Directors assesses the performance of its own members, its committees, its Chairman and 
Group Management, and approves the targets for the next year.

Group Management

Management philosophy
The Mikron Group delegates entrepreneurial responsibility to the lowest possible level. The management structure is 
based on decentralized responsibility and rapid decision-making channels close to each of the local markets.

Management structure
The Board of Directors delegates the task of operational management to the members of Group Management. Group 
Management comprises the CEO, the CFO and the division heads (COO). 

The Group’s Organizational Rules set out the rights and duties of the Board of Directors and Group Management and 
describe in detail how these cooperate.
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Group Management
Group Management is responsible for the management of the Group insofar as this task has not been assigned by law, 
the Articles of Incorporation or the Organizational Rules to any other corporate body. 

It prepares the strategy, the long-term and mid-term targets and the management guidelines for the Mikron Group before 
submitting them to the Board of Directors for approval. 

Group Management regularly reports to the Board of Directors on current business developments, anticipated opportuni-
ties and risks, as well as changes at lower management levels. (See “Information and control instruments vis-à-vis Group 
Management”)

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
The CEO is the Chairman of the Group Management and responsible for the executive management of the Mikron Group.

Furthermore, the CEO submits proposals to the Board of Directors for its decision on the annual budget (consolidated and 
for the holding company), individual key matters that exceed a certain financial scale (see “Duties of the Board of Direc-
tors”) as well as separate and consolidated financial statements and personnel issues affecting direct reports of Group 
Management.

The CEO assists the Chairman of the Board of Directors in preparing the meetings of the Board of Directors and is respon-
sible for the administrative leadership of Group Management meetings. He is responsible for ensuring that meetings are 
minuted.

The Group’s IT function reports to the CEO.

The CEO establishes and monitors profitability targets and submits to the Remuneration Committee proposals concerning 
the compensation of the members of Group Management.

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
The CFO reviews compliance with the Articles of Incorporation, the Organizational Rules and the signatory authority rules 
and proposes amendments to the CEO or the Board of Directors should they become necessary.

The CFO manages the Group’s strategic planning process, as well as its mid-term planning, budgeting and forecasting 
process, and is responsible for internal and external financial reporting.

He heads Group Treasury and Corporate Communication and leads M&A activities, corporate finance projects and the 
Group’s risk management. 

Chief Operating Officers (COO)
The Chief Operating Officers manage their respective divisions in accordance with the Organizational Rules, as well as the 
budget and strategy approved by the Board of Directors. They are responsible for ensuring that their division achieves its 
operational and strategic targets. Purchasing, Production and Sales are organized along divisional lines and report to the 
COOs.
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The following table provides information on each of the members of Group Management as at 31 December 2012: 

Bruno Cathomen 
Dipl. Ing. ETH
Swiss, born in 1967
CEO, COO Mikron Machining
Joined 2009
 

Rolf Rihs 
Dipl. Ing. ETH
Swiss, born in 1963
COO Mikron Automation
Joined 2002
   

Martin Blom 
Dipl. Wirtschaftsprüfer,  
Betriebsökonom FH 
Swiss, born in 1971
CFO
Joined 2005  

Management contracts
There are no management contracts.

Compensations, shareholdings and loans

Content and method of determining compensation and shareholding programmes
The basic principles of the compensation policy are drawn up by the Remuneration Committee and approved annually 
by the full Board of Directors. The Committee carries out periodic comparisons with listed and unlisted Swiss-domiciled 
companies in the mechanical engineering sector or industries with comparable net sales and employee headcount to 
ascertain whether compensation is in line with market rates. The Board of Directors determines the fixed and variable 
salary components and fringe benefits for its members and the Group Management on the basis of the Remuneration 
Committee’s proposals.

Members of the Board of Directors receive a basic compensation element, attendance fees and generally a bonus in the 
form of shares with a lock-up period of four years during which they may not be sold. In the year 2012 the Board of Direc-
tors received 3,500 bonus shares. A lump sum is paid to members of the Board of Directors for out-of pocket expenses. 

Members of Group Management receive a fixed remuneration paid in 13 installments, a lump sum for out-of pocket 
expenses and an annual performance-related variable remuneration. The target variable component in the year under 
review was between 40 and 50% of the fixed salary component. The variable component paid to the members of Group 
Management depends on financial and quality-related results. Depending on the function, the weight of financial targets 

Bruno Cathomen assumed office of the CEO of Mikron 
Group from 1 October 2011, in addition to serving as COO 
of the Mikron Machining division. He spent the eight years 
before he joined Mikron with Elcoteq Network Corpora-
tion, latterly as Vice-President Communications Networks. 
Prior to this he held a number of posts at the ABB technol-
ogy group.

Rolf Rihs took over as COO of the Mikron Automation divi-
sion in mid-2002, prior to which he worked for the Sul-
zer Group for eight years in various regions and functions. 
He was previously a consultant at Helbling Management 
Consulting working on numerous projects for well-known 
Swiss companies. Rolf Rihs assumed the office of EFAC (Eu-
ropean Factory Automation Committee) President in Janu-
ary 2011.

Martin Blom became CFO of the Mikron Group on 1 May 
2011. He has been with Mikron since 2005, latterly as Head 
of Group Finance & Controlling. From 2004 to 2005 Martin 
Blom was employed by the Bernese Energy Group BKW 
FMB. Prior to that, he served and advised national and in-
ternational companies as lead auditor at Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers (PwC).
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ranges between 40 to 75%. The financial targets are based on order intake, net sales, EBIT and cash flow of the divisions 
(COOs) or the Group (CEO and CFO). Quantitative and qualitative targets and performance of the members of Group 
Management are assessed and judged by the Remuneration Committee.

The former CFO received part of his compensation as bonus shares. If the quarterly specified bank covenants were not 
breached (which was not the case) he was entitled to 8,750 shares per quarter. Other than this, all compensation is made 
in cash.

In 2012 the Board of Directors analyzed different methods of rewarding the executives that are key to ultimately increasing 
the profitability and the value of the Mikron Group mid to longer term. It concluded that a long-term-incentive plan (LTI 
Plan) better suits these goals than the existing employee stock option plan. As a result, the Board of Directors decided to 
discontinue the employee stock option plan, while at the same time implementing a long term cash-based incentive plan. 
In 2011, 56,000 shares were issued to management members at the preferential price of CHF 4.20 under the employee 
stock option plan introduced in 2006. Those shares were subject to a lock-up period of 3 to 5 years.

The newly introduced LTI plan is linked to achieving specific financial objectives of the 2012–14 mid-term plan of the Mi-
kron Group and its two divisions. The cash bonus will be based on the level of achievement of the average consolidated 
EBIT margin of the Group and/or the division over the mid-term-plan period. The cash bonus will be calculated by multi-
plying the average individual annual bonus payment for the years 2012–14 with the corresponding bonus factor, which 
ranges from 0% (minimum) to 150% (maximum). 

Members of Group Management are provided with company vehicles which may also be used for private travel.

No additional fees or remunerations were paid in the year under review. No loans were granted to members of governing 
bodies and no severance payments were agreed in the year under review.

Further information on the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and Group Management can be 
found in the Notes to the 2012 Annual Financial Statements of Mikron Holding AG on page 94.

Shareholders’ participation rights

Shareholder legitimacy
Those persons entered in Mikron Holding AG’s share register may exercise the voting rights attached to their registered 
shares.

The Board of Directors keeps a record of the entries in a share register containing the names and addresses of the share-
holders and beneficiaries.

The Board of Directors is entitled to refuse or reverse entry in the share register if the applicant supplies false information 
regarding his person or his entitlement to the shares or if he supplies no information or false information regarding the 
person of the trustor, when acting in a fiduciary capacity. 

Shareholders’ rights
Each registered share carries one vote at the Annual General Meeting. There are no shares affording preferential voting 
rights.

Voting-right restrictions and representation
Mikron does not impose any voting-right restrictions. Shareholders who are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting 
in person may appoint someone as their proxy by giving him/her written authorization to represent them.
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Convocation of the Annual General Meeting and agenda
The invitation to the Annual General Meeting goes out at least 20 days prior to the event and takes the form of a single 
notice published in the Swiss Office Gazette of Commerce and a letter sent to the address of shareholders entered in the 
share register.

The convening notice cites the agenda items and proposals of the Board of Directors and the shareholders who have 
requested that a General Meeting be held or an item placed on the agenda. 

Shareholders owning 10% of the votes in the company may cite agenda items up to 40 days prior to the General Meeting. 

Entries in the share register
For three days before the Annual General Meeting, up to and including the day of the General Meeting, no entries will 
be made in the share register. 

Quorums at the Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting passes its resolutions and carries out its elections with an absolute majority of the share votes 
represented unless the law or the Articles of Incorporation (www.mikron.com/aoi) specify otherwise. 

Changes of control and defence measures

Duty to make an offer
The legal provisions according to Art. 32 (1) of the Swiss Stock Exchange and Securities Trading Act (SESTA) apply. There-
fore, any party whose voting rights exceed the 33.33% limit, directly, indirectly or as a result of an agreement with third 
parties, is obliged to make a public purchase offer. 

Clauses on changes of control
There are no clauses on changes of control in favor of the members of the Board of Directors, Group Management or 
other employees.

Auditors

The auditors conduct their audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss auditing standards. 

The Annual General Meeting elects the auditors for one year at a time. 

Since 2004, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Berne has held the auditing mandate at Mikron Holding AG, its companies and 
the Mikron Group. Since the 2008 business year Oliver Kuntze, as lead auditor, has been responsible for the mandate.

Auditing fees and additional fees
In the 2012 business year, fees of CHF 312,520 for services rendered in connection with auditing the 2012 annual financial 
statements of Mikron Holding AG and its subsidiaries and the consolidated financial statements of the Mikron Group were 
expensed.

The fee budget for the external auditors is assessed by the Audit Committee and based on empirical figures from the previ-
ous year, comparisons with similar listed companies and the audit scope considered necessary by the auditors. 

Additional fees of CHF 44,310 were paid to the auditors in the year under review in respect of tax and other advisory 
services.
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Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors takes note of the audit plan and approves the key audit areas for the cur-
rent year. The Audit Committee is notified in writing of the results of the interim audits. The external auditors inform the 
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors verbally and in writing of their work and the results of the audit of the annual 
financial statements.

Group Management informs the Audit Committee on a yearly basis of planned “non-audit” services to be provided by the 
auditors. The auditors may only provide “non-audit” services provided that the financial scope or content involved does 
not affect their independence. 

To ensure independence, the lead auditor is replaced every seven years.

For further information regarding supervisory and control instruments, please see the chapter entitled “Audit Committee” 
on page 41.

Information policy

Mikron Holding AG pursues an up-to-date and transparent information policy for the public and the financial markets, 
with all interest groups being treated equally. 

Key dates
End of the business year ......................................................................................................................31 December 2012
Guidance on the business year just ended (volumes) ................................................................................24 January 2013
Announcement of the annual results/Publication of the Annual Report .....................................................18 March 2013
Annual Media and Analyst Conference ......................................................................................................18 March 2013
Annual General Meeting ................................................................................................................................ 9 April 2013
End of the first six months of the business year ............................................................................................ 30 June 2013
Announcement of the semi-annual results .....................................................................................................19 July 2013

The dates are also published on the Mikron Group’s website at www.mikron.com/calendar. Corresponding notices are 
also placed in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce. Visitors to the website can view the current share price, the annual 
report and all press releases, and subscribe to receive news updates and press releases free of charge (push and pull links).

In addition to publishing its financial results, the Mikron Group keeps the public abreast of current changes and devel-
opments. Mikron Holding AG publishes information on events relevant to the share price in accordance with SIX Swiss 
Exchange regulations regarding ad hoc publicity.

At the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors and Group Management report on the financial statements and 
the business trend and answer shareholders’ questions.

Should you have any questions, please contact Corporate Communications by telephone (+41 (0)62 916 69 60) or e-mail 
(ir.mma@mikron.com).

Mikron Corporate Governance
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Business trend

In a difficult environment for the Swiss export industry with the Swiss franc remaining strong and demand for capital 
goods weakening in the second half of the year, the Mikron Group achieved further earnings growth and a 12% increase 
in sales to CHF 235.3 million in 2012 (previous year: CHF 210.9 million). Adjusted for acquisitions – factoring out sales by 
Mikron Berlin – Mikron increased its net sales by 5%. The foreign exchange impact on sales in 2012 was not significant. 
The Mikron Group posted a net profit of CHF 8.5 million compared to CHF 7.1 million in the prior year. 

The Machining business segment improved its sales and earnings to a good level as expected, and also gained additional 
market share in key areas. Despite starting the year with a very low order backlog, the Automation business segment 
also managed to increase sales and strengthen its position in the European automation market. However, expectations 
regarding profitability were not met. In the year under review, Corporate Services was able to generate a positive cash flow 
from its investments in high-quality bonds and the investment property, while maintaining service levels with a lean team. 

Europe remains the most important market by far for the Mikron Group. It was therefore essential for our group to adapt 
effectively to the – sometimes very different – developments in the individual European countries. We are also continuing 
to concentrate on customer focus, innovation and quality, as well as improving the efficiency of our operations, increasing 
the flexibility of our cost base, and optimizing our processes.

The Mikron Group also continued to resolutely pursue its strategic goals in the year under review, for example, with the 
acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin. The Automation business segment integrated the company, now operating under 
the name Mikron Berlin, quickly and successfully as an additional production site into its organization. The resulting expan-
sion of its range of applications provided Mikron Automation with better access to the German automotive market. As 
expected, the solar market – a further field of activity for the former IMA Automation Berlin – has not yet recovered and 
the outlook for this market remains uncertain. The Machining business segment supplemented and expanded its product 
range, and in China, its service hub was expanded as planned.

Outlook 

Mikron’s strategy to foster its leading position in machining and automation solutions in Europe and to expand the busi-
ness in Asia and the US will be challenging on the back of the current economic environment. The general economic trend 
remains uncertain for 2013. We are anticipating stagnation in Europe together with slight growth in Asia and the USA. 
Furthermore, we assume steady demand in the pharmaceutical and medical devices industries, with a short- to medium-
term downturn in the European automotive segment. Based on the stronger order backlog in the Automation segment, 
we expect sales by the Mikron Group in 2013 to be on a par with 2012, with a slight improvement in EBIT margin.

Value Based Management

The financial performance of Mikron Group and its business segments is monitored by Group Management on a monthly 
basis. The focus lies on evaluating order intake and net sales (book-to-bill), the productivity defined as added value (net 
sales plus/minus changes in inventories, plus capitalized own production, minus material costs) divided by personnel ex-
penses, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and net working capital trade. As a measure of value based management 
Mikron applies the concept of Return on invested capital (ROIC), with EBIT as the basis for the return. In the year under 
review, ROIC improved to 7.3% up from 6.3% in the previous year.

Commentary of Group Management  
on the Financial Report 2012 of the  
Mikron Group
Mikron Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together the Mikron Group) market machining and 
automation solutions, enabling customers around the world to master their precision man-
ufacturing processes. Headquartered in Switzerland, the Mikron Group operates production 
facilities and sales offices in Switzerland and abroad. It employs a total workforce of 
approximately 1,100. Mikron Holding AG is a limited company under Swiss law, domiciled in 
Biel. Its shares are traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
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Share performance and return

In the year 2012, the share price saw a strong increase to CHF 6.99 in the first quarter 2012 after which it fell to a low 
CHF 5.03 per share at year-end (prior year: CHF 5.30 per share). While for the first time since the year 2000 a distribution 
of CHF 0.12 per share was approved by the annual general meeting of the shareholders, total shareholder return remains 
negative in the year under review. It should be noted that the share price jumped by more than 10% in the first days of 
the new year and that the Earnings per Share (EPS) improved to CHF 0.51 per share (prior year CHF 0.43). At the end of 
January 2013 the share price had already reached CHF 5.62. The precise share performance is available at all times on the 
Mikron Group website.

Automation segment

Order intake, order backlog and net sales
In the year under review, Mikron Automation posted a significant increase in order intake of 46.6% to CHF 113.0 million, 
which, adjusted to take account of the newly acquired company IMA Automation Berlin, resulted in growth of some 28%. 

In Europe, Mikron Automation generated a satisfactory order intake when viewed in overall terms. Mikron Boudry re-
ceived around 20% more orders than in the previous year. 

Mikron Berlin posted a positive result that exceeded expectations. Strong demand from German automotive suppliers, led 
to significantly higher orders than in previous years. In the USA, the change of management that took effect in mid-2011 
has had positive repercussions. In Asia, Mikron Automation continued to invest in the build-up of local expertise in 2012. 
In Singapore, the fruits of this investment became apparent with an encouraging increase in order intake in the second 
half of the year.

As the year began with a limited order backlog and the new orders only came in from the second quarter onwards, ca-
pacity utilization at the Boudry site was much lower in the first half of the year than in the second. Certain challenging 
customer projects could only be completed delayed and with significantly higher costs than originally envisaged. This fac-
tor, together with the irregular capacity utilization and low margins that were attributable to competitive pressures, led 
to a negative result in Boudry.

As the German manufacturing industry has lost a certain amount of momentum, Mikron Automation is expecting a 
slightly lower order intake in 2013 than the previous year. Thanks to the stronger order backlog at the beginning of the 
year, however, the business segment is anticipating slightly higher annual sales. Overall, Mikron Automation expects a 
positive result for the 2013 financial year. 

Added value
Mikron Automation achieved an increase in added value of CHF 3.7 million. Added value is defined as net sales plus/minus 
changes in inventories, plus capitalized own production (development costs), minus material costs. The negative impact 
from the strong Swiss franc and unexpectedly large additional expenditures incurred on a number of complex customer 
projects took its toll, and thus the added value in percentage of sales dropped by nearly 5%. 

EBIT
Mikron Automation posted a negative EBIT of CHF -1.6 million (prior year: CHF 0.1 million), which is significantly below 
expectations. In addition to a lower added value margin, the weak capacity utilization rate at the main site in Boudry in the 
first half of 2012 was the main driver of this development. As a consequence, the productivity ratio (added value divided 
by personnel expenses) decreased to 1.29. Employee headcount at the end of 2012 was 554 full time equivalents.

Mikron Group Financial Report 2012
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Other operating expenses stood at CHF 12.4 million for 2012, just slightly above the prior year, although the acquisition 
of Mikron Berlin increased the level by CHF 1.5 million. In addition to continuous efforts to optimize other operating ex-
penses, the reduction was influenced by lower provisions for the future cost of customer projects. Overall, other operating 
expenses are managed successfully and represent only 12% of net sales.

At CHF 2.6 million, depreciations and amortizations remained as low as in the prior year due to the fact that no major 
production equipment is required to do business.

Free cash flow
Mikron Automation reported a negative free cash flow of CHF –3.9 million in 2012 (prior year: CHF -11.8 million). In ad-
dition to the operating loss (CHF –1.6 million) and slightly lower net working capital (CHF -0.3 million), this was driven by 
capital expenditures. Net capital expenditures totaled CHF 4.5 million, of which CHF 2.7 million are related to the acquisi-
tion of IMA Automation Berlin.

Machining segment

Order intake, order backlog and net sales
Mikron Machining faced a challenging economic environment in 2012. The strong Swiss franc put pressure on prices, 
while the difficult situation in some European countries had a negative impact on demand for capital goods. After a pleas-
ing first six months, orders fell considerably in the second half of the year – particularly in Germany, the segment’s key 
sales market. On the other hand, demand in Asia remained at a good level, especially in China, as well as in the USA. The 
total orders received in 2012 amounted to CHF 123.6 million (-16.7%). Due to the good order backlog at the beginning 
of the year, Mikron Machining was able to make good use of capacity at all of its plants throughout the year and increase 
net sales by 8.9% to CHF 134.3 million.

In the long term, the business segment anticipates further significant growth in the global machine tools market. Taking a 
short-term view, Mikron Machining’s business is characterized by uncertainty and the economic slowdown in Europe. Ac-
cordingly, the business segment started 2013 with a considerably lower backlog of work than in 2012 but expects demand 
to recover around the middle of the year. For the 2013 financial year, Mikron Machining expects sales to fall slightly, de-
spite a sound portfolio of mid- to long-term customer projects. Mikron Machining’s main priorities for the 2013 financial 
year are to maintain the pleasing EBIT margin and to acquire new customers.

Added value
The substantial increase in net sales led to a 6.8% rise in added value to CHF 84.8 million. Added value is defined as net 
sales plus/minus changes in inventories, plus capitalized own production (development costs), minus material costs. The 
pressure on margins due to the strong Swiss Franc also affected Mikron Machining, which led to a 1.2% lower added 
value as a proportion of net sales compared to the previous year.

EBIT
The improvement in EBIT to CHF 9.9 million in 2012 (prior year: CHF 7.1 million) was in line with the challenging expecta-
tions. The EBIT of CHF 9.9 million corresponds to 7.4% of net sales, a considerable increase compared to the 5.8% in the 
prior year. 

This was achieved primarily because personnel expenses rose at a slower pace than net sales and were slightly lower than 
other operating expenses. The fact that personnel costs rose more slowly than net sales resulted in a solid productivity 
ratio (added value divided by personnel expenses) of 1.71. Employee headcount at the end of 2012 was 535 full-time 
equivalents. Other operating expenses stood at CHF 19.7 million for 2012, 1.4% lower than the prior year. Management 
successfully launched programs to further reduce the break-even point.

Mikron Group Financial Report 2012
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Depreciations and amortizations increased slightly to CHF 5.5 million, as the business segment invested in production 
equipment, infrastructure (renewal of building in Agno) and IT projects to improve efficiency. 

Free cash flow
Mikron Machining reported a negative free cash flow of CHF -1.0 million in 2012 (prior year: CHF 7.4 million). The higher 
profit was outweighed by a significant increase in net working capital. This increase of CHF 8.9 million was driven by high-
er net sales, less favorable payment conditions (mainly automotive) and some delays in project execution. Furthermore, 
significant net capital expenditures of CHF 6.9 million (prior year 8.7 million) weighed on the free cash flow.

Corporate

Holding and management company costs were slimmed down by another 7%. Group IT costs remained stable although 
investments were made in tools to support the business in gaining efficiency. The driver of lower costs was the overlapping 
of CFOs in the previous year. The scope for further reduction in corporate costs is limited.

The investment property in Nidau (Switzerland) generated a solid net income of CHF 2.1 million (prior year: CHF 2.0 mil-
lion). The property is rented out to financially sound lessees. With a net yield of 7.5% this is an attractive investment of 
liquid assets not required for operational purposes. The non-operating result excludes the financing costs of the mortgage 
of CHF 11.5 million. 

Financial result, income taxes and profit

The financial result shows significantly lower expenses compared to the previous year and totaled CHF -0.8 million (prior 
year: CHF -1.4 million). The decrease is mainly caused by lower other financial expenses that are related to the renewal of 
the credit facility with a bank consortium in the prior year. Exchange rate gains of CHF 3.5 million compensated for the 
same level of exchange rate losses. Other financial expenses included costs related to the committed credit facility. This 
was partially offset by the financial income from investment of surplus liquidity. 

Profit before taxes amounted to CHF 10.4 million (prior year: CHF 8.0 million), on which income taxes of CHF 1.9 million 
(prior year: CHF 0.9 million) were expensed. The income tax rate is distorted by tax losses not capitalized due to uncer-
tainty about the companies’ future taxable profits. Mikron’s net earnings for 2012 were CHF 8.5 million, compared to CHF 
7.1 million in the prior year, which represents an increase of almost 20%.

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2012

The Mikron Group succeeded in maintaining a good level of cash and cash equivalents, including current financial assets, 
in excess of 19% of total assets. Mikron is free of net debt: cash and cash equivalents plus current financial assets of  
CHF 44.3 million significantly exceed interest-bearing liabilities of just CHF 14.8 million. The current financial assets of  
CHF 18.6 million are mainly invested in high-quality Swiss franc bonds with a residual maturity not exceeding three years. 

Net working capital increased by CHF 7.9 million to CHF 41.9 million, of which CHF 0.2 million is related to the acquired 
company. Overall NWC of 18% remained quite stable compared to net sales (prior year: 16%). The higher business volume 
as well as a few delayed deliveries of customer projects led to a significant increase in both net assets from construction 
contracts and inventories. This was partially compensated by increased payables due to a pronounced level of material 
which had been received from suppliers in the last two months of the year. 

Mikron Group Financial Report 2012
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With a total amount of CHF 85.0 million, non-current assets increased by CHF 2.6 million. Furthermore, in the year un-
der review, the company IMA Automation Berlin GmbH was acquired. While the goodwill of CHF 1.6 million was offset 
against shareholders’ capital, acquired patents of CHF 2.7 million were recognized as intangible assets. Other investments 
in production equipment, infrastructure (renewal of building in Agno) and IT projects to improve efficiency amounted to 
CHF 9.0 million. This was just slightly above amortizations, depreciations and the valuation adjustment of the investment 
property totalling CHF 8.6 million.

In 2011, Mikron signed a credit agreement with a bank consortium worth CHF 50.0 million, which is available for bank 
guarantees to secure advance payments from customers and for fixed advances that are currently not being used. The 
long-term financial liabilities of CHF 14.1 million relate to the mortgaged investment property and one production facil-
ity. The credit agreement requires Mikron to achieve certain key financial figures (covenants). The Group met these by a 
comfortable margin. 

In the year 2012 shareholders’ equity increased by CHF 4.8 million to CHF 153.0 million. This represents a strong equity 
ratio of 66.2%, although this is slightly lower than the prior year figure of 67.6%.

Consolidated cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in net working capital increased from a cash inflow of CHF 14.4 million 
in the previous year to a cash inflow of CHF 18.3 million. This was primarily due to the further improvement in profit. How-
ever, this improvement was outweighed by the strong appreciation in net working capital of CHF -8.6 million, resulting in 
a cash inflow from operating activities of CHF 9.8 million (previous year: CHF 8.0 million). A total of CHF 17.2 million was 
used for investment in non-current assets, including the acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin GmbH. The Group is aiming 
to achieve positive operational free cash flows over the long term. Excluding the acquisition, free cash flow totaled CHF 
0.6 million in the period under review, compared with CHF -2.9 million in the previous year (without changes in financial 
assets). Cash flow from financing activities amounted to CHF -2.2 million in the year under review mainly due to the dis-
tribution to shareholders approved by the Annual General Meeting.

Even though the company’s cash and cash equivalents were reduced by CHF 0.6 million during the reporting year, the 
Mikron Group is still essentially debt-free. 

Innovation

Innovation is key to the success of Mikron and therefore several projects were executed in 2012. In the year under review 
a total of CHF 5.2 million (prior year: CHF 6.1 million) was invested in development projects. These figures include capital-
ized research and development expenses, personnel expenses, material costs and other operating expenses and represent 
2.2% of net sales. The innovation process is usually triggered either by customer enquiries or by potential improvements 
to products and services that have been identified in-house.

In the year under review, Mikron Machining successfully developed and improved its existing machinery platforms. Work-
ing closely with customers, the business segment developed new applications and perfected various machining processes. 
In the tools business too, Mikron implemented new machining and logistics processes and is now able to supply its cus-
tomers with even better tools even more quickly. CrazyDrill Flex is one of the outstanding innovations to have emerged 
from Switzerland’s manufacturing industry in the past two years. That, at least, is the opinion of the judges responsible 
for the PRODEX Award, Switzerland’s most prestigious manufacturing and production prize.
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During the year under review, Mikron Automation booked the twentieth order for its latest Mikron EcoLine assembly plat-
form. This innovative assembly system was specially developed for the emerging markets of Asia. Thanks to this successful 
market entry, Mikron Automation now has an excellent gateway for further growth in this region. Furthermore, the new 
assembly platform also attracted customers’ interest in Europe, with orders received from both the automotive and medi-
cal devices industries. Mikron manufactures the EcoLine platform to a significant extent in Singapore. 

In the 2013 financial year, Mikron intends to continue to invest in product development and to replace production re-
sources, infrastructure and IT equipment as required, with the aim of further increasing efficiency. The company is plan-
ning investments worth more than CHF 10 million in total.

Customer satisfaction

The Mikron Group focuses on the needs of its customers, with the aim of establishing and cultivating long-term relation-
ships with them. In 2012, this involved gathering customer feedback on an ongoing basis, and actively contacting custom-
ers to ask for their opinion.

Personnel

Mikron operates in a demanding, cyclical and global market which is highly competitive. The key to success are skilled and 
motivated employees who are willing to assume responsibility and work constructively together. This allows the Group to 
respond to the rapid changes and complexity inherent in the business. In the year under review, an independent consul-
tancy for personnel and organizational development once again assessed the level of employee satisfaction. To be seen 
as an attractive employer means attracting, developing and retaining employees. In 2012, the Group invested around 
CHF 0.7 million, equating to CHF 600 per employee, in basic and further training (third-party costs only, not including the 
working hours that were made available). Mikron wants each and every employee to develop on the basis of interesting, 
challenging tasks, and thus contribute to the success of the Group as a whole.

Employees’ remuneration is based on their role, performance, specific knowledge of value to Mikron (languages, special 
technological expertise) and experience. Men and women are paid equally for performing the same work. The economic 
performance and regional differences of the individual companies are also taken into account. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement

CHF 1,000 Note 2012 2011

Net sales 4.1 235,279 210,948

Change in work in progress/finished goods 1,907 476

Capitalized own production 230 552

Operating output 237,416 100.0% 211,976 100.0%

Material costs and subcontractors 4.2 -92,722 -76,460

Personnel expenses 4.3 -98,774 -91,325

Other operating income 4.4 1,146 1,272

Other operating expenses 4.4 -29,610 -29,970

Depreciation of tangible assets 5.7 -5,692 -5,549

Amortization of intangible assets 5.8 -2,653 -2,521

Operating result 9,111 3.8% 7,423 3.5%

Financial result 4.5 -825 -1,368

Ordinary result 8,286 3.5% 6,055 2.9%

Non-operating result 4.6 2,105 1,958

Profit before taxes 10,391 4.4% 8,013 3.8%

Income taxes 4.7 -1,920 -879

Profit 8,471 3.6% 7,134 3.4%
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Consolidated balance sheet

CHF 1,000 Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.1 25,673 26,231

Current financial assets 5.2 18,649 23,745

Accounts receivable 5.3 14,076 13,196

Inventories 5.4 43,019 33,251

Net assets from customer projects 5.5 38,433 34,236

Other receivables 5.6 3,645 2,663

Prepaid expenses 2,616 3,368

Total current assets 146,111 63.2% 136,690 62.4%

Non-current assets
Tangible assets 5.7 45,432 43,515

Intangible assets 5.8 8,455 6,933

Investment property 5.9 28,030 27,950

Deferred tax assets 5.11 3,080 4,011

Total non-current assets 84,997 36.8% 82,409 37.6%

Total assets 231,108 100.0% 219,099 100.0%

Current liabilities
Short-term financial liabilities 5.12 651 606

Accounts payable 22,965 17,798

Net liabilities from customer projects 5.5 13,878 13,788

Short-term provisions 5.13 4,838 3,491

Other current liabilities 3,586 2,056

Accrued expenses 5.14 14,593 15,500

Total current liabilities 60,511 26.2% 53,239 24.3%

Long-term liabilities
Long-term financial liabilities 5.12 14,120 14,805

Long-term provisions 5.13 181 201

Deferred tax liabilities 5.11 3,276 2,665

Total long-term liabilities 17,577 7.6% 17,671 8.1%

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 5.15 1,671 1,671

Treasury shares -159 -186

Capital reserves 106,668 108,670

Retained earnings 44,840 38,034

Total shareholders’ equity 153,020 66.2% 148,189 67.6%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 231,108 100.0% 219,099 100.0%

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity

CHF 1,000 Note Share  
capital

Treasury 
shares

Capital 
reserves

Retained earnings

Total share- 
holders’ 

equity

Accumulat-
ed profits

Translation 
adjust-
ments

Balance at 01.01.2011 1,671 -51 108,670 32,652 -1,993 140,949
Profit 2011 7,134 7,134

Translation effects on loans with equity character 210 210

Translation adjustments 31 31

Treasury shares to employees and Board of Directors 5.15 938 938

Change in treasury shares 5.15 -1,073 -1,073

Balance at 31.12.2011 1,671 -186 108,670 39,786 -1,752 148,189

Profit 2012 8,471 8,471

Translation effects on loans with equity character -262 -262

Translation adjustments 164 164

Goodwill from acquisition IMA Automation Berlin GmbH       6.4 -1,567 -1,567

Distribution to shareholders -2,002 -2,002

Treasury shares to Board of Directors 5.15 18 18

Change in treasury shares 5.15 9 9

Balance at 31.12.2012 1,671 -159 106,668 46,690 -1,850 153,020

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flow

CHF 1,000 Note 2012 2011

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit 8,471 7,134
Depreciation and amortization 5.7, 5.8 8,345 8,070
Revaluation of investment property 5.9 287 426
Gains (-) / losses (+) on sale of non-current assets 4.4 87 -28
Changes in provisions 5.13 383 97
Changes in deferred taxes 4.7, 5.11 1,319 542
Other non-cash items -548 -1,863
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in net working capital 18,344 14,378

Movement in accounts receivable 1,026 -926
Movement in inventories -8,979 1,734
Movement in net assets from customer projects, other receivables and prepaid expenses -2,787 -9,231
Movement in accounts payable 4,105 1,110
Movement in net liabilities from customer projects, other current liabilities and accrued expenses -1,935 958
Cash flow from operating activities 9,774 8,023

Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in tangible assets 5.7 -7,451 -8,824
Divestments of tangible assets 5.7 165 96
Investments in intangible assets 5.8 -4,055 -1,240
Investments in investment property 5.9 -565 -977
Investments in group companies (less cash taken over) -1,017 0
Investments in financial assets 5.2 -4,076 -5,040
Divestments of financial assets 5.2 9,000 4,440
Cash flow from investing activities -7,999 -11,545

Cash flow from financing activities
Purchase of treasury shares 5.15 0 -1,073
Sales of treasury shares 5.15 0 406
Distribution to shareholders -2,002 0
Increase (+) / repayment (-) of long-term financial liabilities -50 2,520
Increase (+) / repayment (-) of finance lease liabilities -606 -580
Interest received 663 639
Interest paid -231 -197
Cash flow from financing activities -2,226 1,715

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash -107 2

Net cash flow -558 -1,805

Increase (+) / decrease (-) of cash and cash equivalents -558 -1,805

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 26,231 28,036
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 25,673 26,231

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 2012 of the Mikron Group

1. General information

1.1 Business operations 
Mikron Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together, the Mikron Group) are technologically leading suppliers of machining 
and automation solutions for high-volume and high-precision production. Headquartered in Switzerland, Mikron Group 
operates production facilities and sales offices in Switzerland and abroad. It employs a total workforce of around 1,100.

Mikron Holding AG is a limited company under Swiss law, domiciled in Biel. The shares are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange in 
Zurich (Security Symbol MIKN / ISIN CH 0003390066).

1.2 Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER as a whole, applying the 
principle of historical cost accounting. Exceptions to this rule are marketable securities reported as current assets, deriva-
tive financial instruments and investment properties, which are reported at fair values.

1.3 Events after the balance sheet date 
The Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements at its meeting of 15 March 2013. The approval of 
the consolidated financial statements by the Annual General Meeting is scheduled for 9 April 2013.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1 Consolidation

2.1.1 Scope and method of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include Mikron Holding AG, Biel and all Swiss and foreign subsidiaries which the 
parent company, directly or indirectly, controls either by holding more than 50% of the voting rights or by some other 
form of control. These entities are fully consolidated. All intercompany transactions and relations between the consolidat-
ed companies are offset against each other and eliminated. Profits on intercompany transactions are eliminated. Capital 
consolidation is based on the purchase method applied on the annual financial statements of all consolidated entities, 
prepared as at December 31, determined according to uniform accounting policies. The Mikron Group does not have any 
shareholdings with a voting power of less than 50%.

The list of Group companies can be found on page 97. The following changes to the group of consolidated companies 
took place in the year under review.

2.1.2 Acquisition of Group companies 
New companies acquired by the Mikron Group are reported in the consolidated financial statements from the date of 
obtaining control. The net assets acquired are valued at actual values and consolidated applying the purchase method. 
Previously not capitalized intangible assets are not valued and not recognized. Any difference between the higher pur-
chase price and the net assets acquired (Goodwill) is offset against shareholders’ capital. 

Changes in scope of consolidation
Share 31.12.2012 Share 31.12.2011

IMA Automation Berlin GmbH (now: Mikron Berlin GmbH) Purchased on 1 March 2012 100% 0%

Mikron Ltd. Tokyo Liquidation as at 10 April 2012 0% 100%
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The new acquired company IMA Automation Berlin GmbH (now: Mikron Berlin GmbH) reported the following balance 
sheet at the time of acquisition:

CHF 1,000 Value at acquisition date

Cash and equivalents 635
Inventories 441
Other current assets 3,609
Non-current assets 311
Current liabilities 4,092
Non-current liabilities 215
Shareholders’ equity 689

Exchange rate at acquisition date: CHF/EUR 1.20606

2.2 Segment reporting 
The Mikron Group is organized by divisions which are grouped according to the types of products and services they provide. 

For the purposes of reporting, the following segments have been identified:

 – The Machining business segment comprises the Mikron Machining division, which has its main site in Agno (Switzer-
land) and a further production site in Rottweil (Germany) as well as several sales and service companies. The market 
offering of this business segment includes highly productive customized machining solutions for the manufacturing of 
complex high-precision components made of metal. Matching cutting tools and a wide range of services round off the 
market offering. Its production solutions are used mainly by suppliers to the automotive component supply industry 
and are also well established in the writing instruments, electric/electronic, consumer goods and other industries. The 
most important market is Europe, led by Germany. The Asian market is becoming increasingly significant.

 – The Automation business segment comprises the Mikron Automation division, which has its main site in Boudry (Swit-
zerland) and further production sites in Denver (USA), Berlin (Germany), Singapore and Shanghai (P. R. China). Mikron 
Automation is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of customized, highly productive automation solutions for 
high-precision assembly and testing of products up to hand size. A wide range of services support customers over the 
entire life span. Demand for the division’s automation solutions comes mainly from companies in the pharmaceutical, 
medical devices, automotive and consumer goods industries. Geographically, its main markets are in Western Europe, 
the USA and increasingly Asia. 

 – The Corporate Service segment reports information on Mikron’s holding, management and finance companies. The 
Corporate Service supports the individual group companies as well as the Board of Directors and Group Management 
in their management and control functions. It also reports income and expenses related to a non-operating industrial 
property, which is fully leased to third parties. Eliminations on Group level are presented together with the Corporate 
Service.

2.3 Foreign currency translation 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the local currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the 
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates are recognized in the income statement.

The consolidated financial statements are reported in Swiss francs. For consolidation purposes, assets and liabilities are 
translated into Swiss francs at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. The income statement and all cash 
flows are translated at average rates for each period. Differences between the translation of assets and liabilities and the 
income statement are recognized in equity. Exchange differences on long-term intra-Group loans with equity character 
are likewise taken directly to Group equity. 
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The most significant exchange rates for the Group in the year under review in Swiss francs were:

2.4 Disclosure of related party transactions 
Related parties are defined as companies or persons that exercise significant influence over Mikron or that are controlled 
by the Group. The group of investors, the Board of Directors, the group management and the pension fund of Mikron 
Group are defined as related parties. All significant transactions, outstanding balances and contingent liabilities are dis-
closed in note 6.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.5 Assets and liabilities

2.5.1 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current bank and post office accounts, as well as deposits held at call 
with a bank or other financial institution with maturities of 90 days or less, and are shown at nominal value. 

2.5.2 Financial assets 
Marketable securities, derivative financial instruments and term deposits with maturities of more than 90 days are re-
ported as current financial assets. Term deposits are valued at nominal value less any impairment. Marketable securities 
and derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and any changes in fair value are presented in the financial 
result.

2.5.3 Receivables 
Receivables are carried at nominal value. A provision for bad debt risks is established for cases where the Group faces an 
objective risk of not collecting the outstanding amount. Factors such as information on financial difficulties being experi-
enced by the debtor and overdue payments (more than 30 days overdue) are used to assess whether or not there is a bad 
debt risk. Changes in provisions are recognized as other operating expenses.

2.5.4 Inventories 
Raw materials and other supplies, as well as goods purchased, are carried at weighted average cost, finished products at 
the lower of costs of conversion (standard costs), including directly attributable production costs, or fair value less costs to 
sell. Settlement discounts are registered as financial income. In addition, downpayments from suppliers are disclosed as a 
deduction within inventories. Provisions are made for slow moving items. Obsolete items are written off. 

2.5.5 Construction contracts 
Construction contracts for machining and assembly systems are accounted for by the “percentage of completion” meth-
od. The respective stage of completion is determined by individually measuring the work performed to date, based on 
the costs incurred compared to the total estimated costs. Costs to date and realized revenues by reference to the stage 
of completion are continuously recognized in the income statement. On the balance sheet, projects in progress – offset 
by prepayments and progress payments from customers – are recognized as net assets or net liabilities from customer 
projects.

Currency Average rate 2012 Average rate 2011 Closing rate 31.12.2012 Closing rate 31.12.2011
1 EUR 1.204940 1.236680 1.208550 1.216200

1 USD 0.935560 0.890240 0.910790 0.941750

1 JPY 0.011660 0.011570 0.010620 0.012140

1 SGD 0.749420 0.706280 0.745140 0.724340

1 CNY 0.148260 0.137960 0.146050 0.149570
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All contracts for which no specific customer contract yet exists are capitalized as work in progress until delivery and dis-
closed as inventory. They are measured at the lower of costs of conversion (standard costs), including directly attributable 
production costs, or fair value less costs to sell. Net sales and profit are recognized at the time of delivery. 

Immediate provision is made through profit or loss for present or foreseeable losses on construction contracts.

2.5.6 Tangible assets 
Property consists of production and office buildings. Tangible assets are measured at amortized cost and depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives. The exception to the rule is land, which is not depreciated. Added value expenses are capital-
ized and depreciated over the corresponding useful life. Expenditure on repairs, maintenance and replacements is charged 
directly to the income statement.

The linear depreciation rates are determined by the expected useful life, taking into account operational use and technical 
ageing. The estimated useful life is as follows:

Years

Real estate 30–45

Leasehold improvements over the duration of the lease agreement

Equipment and installations 12–25

Furniture 8–12

Machinery 5–10

Other 3–5

2.5.7 Intangible assets 
Items which qualify as intangible assets comprise development costs, purchased software and patents.

Development costs relating to new or significantly improved products and processes are capitalized only when they are 
technically and commercially feasible and when the Group has sufficient resources for their implementation. Expenses 
related to smaller development projects or early stage developments as well as product maintenance are taken to the 
income statement as an expense. Capitalized development costs are recognized at cost less accumulated amortizations 
and impairments (see note 2.5.9). The maximum estimated useful life is 5 years.

Other intangible assets are reported in the balance sheet at acquisition value less accumulated amortizations and impair-
ments (see note 2.5.9). The estimated useful life of software is 3 to 5 years, for patents 5 to 10 years.

2.5.8 Investment property 
Property held as a financial investment covers only those production and office buildings which the Mikron Group no 
longer depends on for its own use and which are rented out to third parties. Investment properties are reported at market 
values. The Mikron Group currently owns a property in Nidau, Switzerland, with a market value of CHF 28.0 million as 
at 31 December 2012. The fair value of the property is reviewed annually as per the balance sheet date and adjusted if 
necessary. Revaluations are recognized in the income statement.

2.5.9 Impairment of non-current assets
Tangible and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset’s carrying 
value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in 
use (net present value of estimated future cash flows). The recoverable amount is determined for each asset separately or, 
where this is not possible, for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. A reversal of impairment is recognized 
if the review of the recoverable amount reveals none or only a reduced impairment.
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2.5.10 Lease contracts 
Agreements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee are disclosed as finance 
leases. Assets held under finance leases are recognized as tangible assets at the lower of fair value at the time of acquisi-
tion and the net present value of the future lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
balance sheet as a financial liability. Lease payments are apportioned between financial expenses and reduction of the 
lease obligation. Assets under finance leases are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Operating lease payments are treated as operating expenses and charged to the income statement as incurred.

2.5.11 Payables 
Payables are generally measured at nominal values.

2.5.12 Financial liabilities 
Short-term and long-term bank borrowings and loans are recognized at nominal value. Derivative financial instruments are 
measured at fair value and any changes in fair value are presented in the financial result.

2.5.13 Provisions 
Provisions are recognized only if the company has a present obligation to a third party as a result of a past event, it is prob-
able that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the obligation can be sufficiently reliably 
estimated. If the time factor has a significant impact the amount of the provision is discounted. 

2.5.14 Deferred taxes 
Deferred income taxes are recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases and are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax li-
abilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are only recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to offset against these assets. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the rate that is expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that are valid at the balance sheet date. 

2.5.15 Employee benefits 
There are a number of employee benefit plans in existence within the Group, each of which is aligned with local conditions 
in the country in question. They are funded by means of contributions to legally independent employee benefit schemes 
(foundations, insurance). An annual evaluation is made to see, if an economic benefit or an economic obligation exists 
for the Mikron Group. Any such amount is recognized in the balance sheet. The net periodic expense to be recognized in 
the income statement is equal to the contributions made by the employer plus any changes to the economic benefit or 
obligation.

2.6 Income statement

2.6.1 Revenue recognition 
Net sales comprise the sales of products as well as the rendering of services. Sales are recognized if it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount can be estimated reliably. Sales revenue is recognized upon 
transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the client. Settlement discounts are recognized as financial 
expense.

Pro rata net sales and profits on construction contracts are recognized in accordance with note 2.5.5 on the basis of the 
percentage of completion and of the estimated total profit for the project.
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2.6.2 Presentation 
The operating output figure corresponds to net sales plus the change of work in progress/finished goods and capitalized 
own production. 

2.7 Share-based payments 
A share purchase plan was in place until 2011 for a select number of Mikron Group employees, entitling them to subscribe 
Mikron shares at preferential conditions. Any shares which legally passed to the buyer may not have been sold during a 
lock-up period. The difference between fair value and purchase price was recognized as personnel expense at the date 
of allocation.

The members of the Board of Directors of Mikron Holding AG can receive part of their annual compensation in shares. 
Any shares legally transferred may not be sold during a lock-up period. The fair value of the shares granted is recognized 
as personnel expense at the date of allocation. The same is valid for bonus shares granted to Group Management.

3. Risk management

The Mikron Group applies a central risk assessment system which covers both strategic and operational risks. All identified 
risks are given a rating (based on probability of occurrence and extent of potential losses) and recorded in a risk inventory. 
Based on this risk inventory, the Board of Directors conducts a review, at least once a year, of whether the risk governance 
and reduction measures in place are adequate for the company’s needs. Ongoing monitoring of the risk inventory is the 
responsibility of Group Management.

Accounting and financial reporting risks are monitored and reduced through a suitable internal control system.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks (primarily foreign exchange risks), credit risks 
and liquidity risks. The Group’s financial risk management program focuses on reducing financial market risks with the 
potential to adversely affect its financial performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the centralized Treasury department in close cooperation with the Group 
companies on the basis of guidelines issued by the Board of Directors. 

3.1 Foreign exchange risks 
The Group is active globally and conducts transactions in a variety of currencies. Exchange rate fluctuations can therefore 
have a significant impact on the result. The euro is the most important foreign currency for the Group. Exchange rate risks 
exist in future business transactions, in assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet and in net investments in 
foreign companies, where the currency is not the same as the company’s functional currency.

The Group companies’ currency risks stemming from future business transactions are consolidated by the Group Treasury 
and hedged centrally. To neutralize the risk, income in a given foreign currency is offset against expenditure in the same 
currency. Group Treasury hedges economically between 25% and 100% of the net cash flows in prospect for the next 
12 months. In the year under review due to the minimum exchange rate of CHF 1.20 per euro set by the Swiss National 
Bank, not all net cash flows were hedged. Forward contracts are the main instrument used for hedging. Gains and losses 
arising from the valuation of forward contracts at fair value are recognized in the financial result. The Group does not 
apply hedge accounting.

The Group has investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risks. Cur-
rency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings 
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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3.2 Interest rate risks 
Interest rate risks result from changes in interest rates, which could have a negative impact on the Group’s financial posi-
tion, cash flow and earnings situation. Interest rate exposure is basically limited, owing to the low level of external financ-
ing and the conservative investment policy. The interest rate exposure is managed centrally. As at 31 December 2012 and 
2011 respectively, no derivative financial instruments were being held to hedge any interest rate risks.

3.3 Price risks 
The consolidated financial statements report at year-end short-term financial assets mainly related to high-quality Swiss 
franc bonds with a maturity of less than 3 years, which are measured at fair value. As a result of the short duration, price 
changes are reduced but could nevertheless significantly impact the financial income of the Group at the balance sheet 
date. The Group currently has no financial instruments which are exposed to changes in commodity prices.

3.4 Credit risks 
Credit risks arise from the possibility that the counterparty to a transaction may not be able or willing to discharge their 
obligations, thereby causing the Group to suffer a financial loss. Counterparty risks are minimized by only concluding 
contracts with reputable business partners and financial institutions. 

Relationships with customers are subject to credit checks. In addition, Group Management monitors outstanding pay-
ments on accounts receivable through monthly reporting procedures. The necessary allowances are made locally. 

3.5 Liquidity risks 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Prudent liquidity 
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of funding from an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 

The required flexibility in funding for the project business of the Group is primarily achieved via adequate liquidity reserves. 
As at the end of the year significant headroom (cash and cash equivalents, current financial assets and unused credit facili-
ties) is available to the Mikron Group. In November 2011, Mikron has signed a credit agreement with a bank consortium 
worth CHF 50.0 million, which is available for bank guarantees to secure advance payments from customers and for fixed 
advances.

Group Management monitors the Group’s liquidity status on the basis of three-month rolling cash flow forecasts.
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4.1 Net sales

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Machines (from construction contracts) 179,360 152,754

Machines (other) 1,050 2,534

Cutting tools 24,678 22,809

Service 30,191 32,851

Total net sales 235,279 210,948

4.2 Material costs and subcontractors

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Raw materials -82,634 -68,223

Subcontractors -10,088 -8,237

Total material costs and subcontractors -92,722 -76,460

4.3 Personnel expenses

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Salaries and wages -85,673 -79,591

Social charges -8,807 -7,587

Pension expenses -4,294 -4,147

Total personnel expenses -98,774 -91,325

4.4 Other operating income and expenses

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Other income 1,037 1,228

Gain on sale of non-current assets 109 44

Total other operating income 1,146 1,272

Real estate -6,595 -6,419

Marketing and sales -6,308 -6,123

Information technology -3,673 -3,445

Other expenses -12,491 -13,617

Loss on sale of non-current assets -196 -16

Capital and other taxes (excl. income taxes) -347 -350

Total other operating expenses -29,610 -29,970

4. Details of the consolidated income statement
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4.5 Financial result

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Financial income 4,462 9,742

Financial expenses -5,287 -11,110

Total financial result -825 -1,368

Interest income 643 635

Interest expenses -227 -200

Total interest result 416 435

Exchange gains 3,509 8,699

Exchange losses -3,669 -8,974

Other financial income 310 408

Other financial expenses -1,391 -1,936

Total other financial result -1,241 -1,803

Total financial result -825 -1,368

4.6 Non-operating result

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Rental income 2,615 2,615

Income from property-related services 977 1,178

Total non-operating income 3,592 3,793

Owner-related expenses -204 -171

Expenses for property-related services -996 -1,238

Total non-operating expense -1,200 -1,409

Revaluation -287 -426

Total non-operating result 2,105 1,958

4.7 Income taxes

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Current income tax -601 -337

Deferred income tax -1,319 -542

Total income taxes -1,920 -879

The applicable tax rate for the Group is 23.0% (prior year: 23.0%). This corresponds to the average income tax rates of 
the individual Group companies in each jurisdiction.
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5. Details of the consolidated balance sheet

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Bank and post office accounts 25,673 26,231

Total cash and cash equivalents 25,673 26,231

5.3 Accounts receivable

5.2 Financial assets

5.4 Inventories

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Accounts receivable 14,540 13,888

Allowance for doubtful accounts -464 -692

Total accounts receivable 14,076 13,196

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Term deposits 0 4,000

Bonds 18,649 19,745

Total current financial assets 18,649 23,745

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Raw materials 26,850 15,862

Work in progress 8,723 7,055

Finished and trading goods 5,764 12,308

Prepayments to suppliers 2,916 1,532

Prepayments from customers -1,234 -3,506

Total inventories 43,019 33,251

As at the balance sheet date, accounts receivable (including allowance for doubtful accounts) past due for 30 days and 
more amounted to CHF 1.9 million (prior year: CHF 2.0 million). 

The bonds of CHF 18.6 million (prior year: CHF 19.7 million) comprise mainly high-quality Swiss franc bonds with a matu-
rity of less than 3 years.

The provision for slow-moving inventories amounts to CHF 11.1 million (prior year: CHF 10.1 million). Due to the imple-
mentation of a new ERP system in Agno, reclassifications within the inventory categories were made which limit the 
comparability to the prior year figures.
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5.5 Construction contracts

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Projects in progress – costs incurred 134,218 97,137

Recognized profits less recognized losses 37,217 25,724

Prepayments from customers -146,880 -102,413

Total net assets and liabilities from customer projects 24,555 20,448

Net assets from customer projects 38,433 34,236

Net liabilities from customer projects -13,878 -13,788

Total net assets and liabilities from customer projects 24,555 20,448

The stage of completion, determined by the costs incurred to date compared to the total estimated costs, was approxi-
mately 66% on 31 December 2012 (prior year: approximately 58%). At the balance sheet date, the Mikron Group had  
175 projects in progress (prior year: 171 projects) with an average volume of CHF 1.6 million (prior year: CHF 1.3 million). 
At 31 December 2012 there were no retentions by customers (prior year: CHF 0.6 million).

5.6 Other receivables 

CHF 1,000 Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other receivables 3,645 2,637

Derivative financial instruments 6.1 0 26

Total other receivables 3,645 2,663
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5.7 Tangible assets

Other Information

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Fire insurance values
Real estate 71,527 69,314
Machinery, equipment and installations 73,024 67,425
Total fire insurance values 144,551 136,739

CHF 1,000 Undeveloped 
real estate

Real estate Machinery Equipment 
and installa-

tions

Down pay-  
ments and 

assets under 
construction

Others Total

At cost
Balance at 01.01.2011 3,199 65,737 55,570 20,022 336 4,437 149,301
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 0 4,125 2,369 782 1,793 74 9,143

Transfers 0 2,259 508 676 -1,276 -2,167 0

Disposals 0 -479 -936 -368 0 -7 -1,790

Translation adjustments 0 0 -126 -95 0 -30 -251

Balance at 31.12.2011 3,199 71,642 57,385 21,017 853 2,307 156,403
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 406 462 0 278 1,146

Additions 0 2,689 2,645 1,324 855 145 7,658

Transfers 0 31 1,781 -1,142 -810 140 0

Disposals 0 -484 -2,647 -234 0 -6 -3,371

Translation adjustments 0 0 -56 -102 -1 -5 -164

Balance at 31.12.2012 3,199 73,878 59,514 21,325 897 2,859 161,672

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 01.01.2011 0 -44,858 -45,323 -17,509 0 -1,561 -109,251
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation 0 -1,242 -2,986 -1,029 0 -292 -5,549

Transfers 0 -769 0 0 0 769 0

Disposals 0 479 932 306 0 5 1,722

Translation adjustments 0 0 88 85 0 17 190

Balance at 31.12.2011 0 -46,390 -47,289 -18,147 0 -1,062 -112,888
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 -364 -381 0 -180 -925

Depreciation 0 -1,440 -2,919 -1,080 0 -253 -5,692

Transfers 0 86 -1,249 1,249 0 -86 0

Disposals 0 288 2,632 199 0 0 3,119

Translation adjustments 0 0 46 96 0 4 146

Balance at 31.12.2012 0 -47,456 -49,143 -18,064 0 -1,577 -116,240

Net book value
Balance at 31.12.2011 3,199 25,252 10,096 2,870 853 1,245 43,515

Balance at 31.12.2012 3,199 26,422 10,371 3,261 897 1,282 45,432

Of which finance leases
Balance at 31.12.2011 0 0 801 3 0 0 804

Balance at 31.12.2012 0 0 626 0 0 0 626

At the balance sheet date, the Group had entered into CHF 0.7 million of capital commitments to purchase tangible assets 
(prior year: CHF 0.2 million). 
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5.8 Intangible assets

At the balance sheet date, the group had entered into CHF 0.6 million of capital commitments to purchase intangible as-
sets (prior year: CHF 0.3 million). 

Patents
In connection with the acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin GmbH the Mikron Group purchased patents in the amount 
of CHF 2.7 million. The patents cover methods to manufacture contacting systems for the photovoltaic industry. The fair 
value of the intangible asset was reviewed at the balance sheet date and is based on assumptions about future cash flows. 
The review confirmed the balance sheet amount. Future cash flows are based on management estimates, should these 
assumptions fail to occur, the valuation of the patents will have to be revisited.

CHF 1,000 Patents Capitalized 
development

costs

Software Others Total

At cost
Balance at 01.01.2011 0 21,284 14,623 696 36,603
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 0 170 1,071 0 1,241

Transfers 0 0 74 -74 0

Disposals 0 -13,739 -798 0 -14,537

Translation adjustments 0 -63 -20 -1 -84

Balance at 31.12.2011 0 7,652 14,950 621 23,223
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 353 0 353

Additions 2,711 225 1,087 32 4,055

Disposals 0 -2,900 0 0 -2,900

Translation adjustments 8 19 -9 0 18

Balance at 31.12.2012 2,719 4,996 16,381 653 24,749

Accumulated amortization
Balance at 01.01.2011 0 -18,446 -9,282 -649 -28,377
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Amortization 0 -939 -1,582 0 -2,521

Transfers 0 0 -26 26 0

Disposals 0 13,739 798 0 14,537

Translation adjustments 0 57 12 2 71

Balance at 31.12.2011 0 -5,589 -10,080 -621 -16,290
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 -264 0 -264

Amortization -203 -782 -1,666 -2 -2,653

Disposals 0 2,900 0 0 2,900

Translation adjustments -1 12 2 0 13

Balance at 31.12.2012 -204 -3,459 -12,008 -623 -16,294

Net book value
Balance at 31.12.2011 0 2,063 4,870 0 6,933

Balance at 31.12.2012 2,515 1,537 4,373 30 8,455

Of which finance leases
Balance at 31.12.2011 0 0 1,087 0 1,087

Balance at 31.12.2012 0 0 932 0 932
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Development costs 
In the year under review, the Automation segment capitalized development expenses for the EcoLine product platform.

Software 
In the 2012 financial year, the Mikron Group completed the introduction of the new ERP system and invested CHF 0.7 
million in new product life cycle management software in Agno, enabling the company to improve product delivery pro-
cesses.

5.9 Investment property

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Balance at 1 January 27,950 27,200
Capitalized expenditures 367 1,176

Revaluation -287 -426

Balance at 31 December 28,030 27,950

Original acquisition cost 39,915 39,548

Fire insurance values 59,830 59,830

The Mikron Group is the owner of a property in Switzerland (land and building) that is fully leased to third parties. Related 
income and expenses are reported in the non-operating result (see note 4.6). The property is reported at market value, 
last reviewed on 31 December 2012. The discounted cash flow method was used for the valuation. A discount rate of 
7.2% was applied.

The Group had no capital commitments to purchase services for the investment property at the balance sheet dates.
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5.10 Employee benefits
All employees in Switzerland are insured through the Mikron pension fund, which is a foundation under Swiss law and 
independent of the Mikron Group. With a few exceptions, all employees in Switzerland are obliged to join the pension 
fund. The contributions are based on the annual salary and are accumulated in individual retirement accounts. Upon re-
tirement (at age 65 for men and 64 for women), a lump-sum benefit may be drawn. Otherwise, a pension is paid out, on 
the basis of a specified conversion factor. 

Employer contribution reserves

CHF 1,000 Nominal value
31.12.2011

Renounced use
31.12.2011

Balance sheet
31.12.2011

Payments/ 
repayments

2011

Impact on  
personnel 

expense 2011

Impact on  
financial result 

2011

Patronage pension institutions 0 0 0 -610 -610 4

Pension institutions without surplus/deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 -610 -610 4

CHF 1,000 Surplus / deficit
31.12.2011

Economic part of the organization Change from 
prior year in the 

current result 
for the period

Contributions 
concerning the 

business period

Pension  
expenses 

2011
31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Patronage pension institutions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pension institutions without surplus/deficit 0 0 0 0 3,779 3,779

Total 0 0 0 0 3,779 3,779

CHF 1,000 Surplus / deficit
31.12.2012

Economic part of the organization Change from 
prior year in the 

current result 
for the period

Contributions 
concerning the 

business period

Pension 
expenses

2012
31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Patronage pension institutions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pension institutions without surplus/deficit 0 0 0 0 3,789 3,789

Total 0 0 0 0 3,789 3,789

The information on the economic benefit as at 31 December 2012 is based on the last annual financial statements of the 
Mikron pension fund preceding the balance sheet date, i.e. the financial statements as at 31 December 2011. As at 31 
December 2011, the Mikron pension fund reported a coverage rate of 114.3%. According to the pension fund’s provisional 
accounts, the coverage rate is expected to have increased by approximately 3% in the 2012 financial year. The reserve 
for fluctuations in asset value is not yet fully provisioned, which is why the pension fund does not report a surplus. The 
number of active insureds decreased in 2012 by about 3%. Contributions matched pension expenses during the relevant 
reporting period. 

The employer contribution reserve was fully used during the year 2011.

Economic benefit / economic obligation and pension expenses
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5.11 Deferred taxes

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Statement of changes in deferred tax liabilities
Balance at 1 January 2,665 1,901
Changes in the scope of consolidation 215 0

Set-up and reversal of temporary differences 401 766

Translation adjustments -5 -2

Balance at 31 December 3,276 2,665

Deferred tax liabilities mainly result from temporary differences in the measurement of customer contracts, the valuation 
of inventories and the market valuation of the investment property.

The deferred tax assets of CHF 3.1 million (prior year: CHF 4.0 million) result from accumulated tax loss carry forwards 
that were capitalized. Due to uncertainties that future taxable profit will be available to offset against these assets, tax 
loss carry forwards amounting to CHF 107.1 million (prior year: CHF 119.2 million) were not capitalized. Applying local tax 
rates results in a deferred tax asset from non-capitalized tax loss carry forwards of CHF 16.4 million (prior year: CHF 17.2 
million). 

5.12 Financial liabilities

CHF 1,000 Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Short-term financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 635 606

Derivative financial instruments 6.1 16 0

Total short-term financial liabilities 651 606

Long-term financial liabilities
Bank borrowings 13,970 14,020

Finance lease liabilities 150 785

Total long-term financial liabilities 14,120 14,805

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Financial liabilities, expiring
– not later than 1 year 651 606

– later than 1 year but not later than 3 years 150 785

– later than 3 years 13,970 14,020

Total financial liabilities 14,771 15,411

The investment property and one of the production facilities were mortgaged for liquidity management purposes. Details 
of the mortgages are given in note 6.2. The leasing liabilities relate mainly to purchased machines that are being put into 
production and licenses for the ERP system.

In November 2011, a credit agreement was negotiated with a bank consortium and concluded for 42 months. The agree-
ment secures financing for the Mikron Group in the form of bank guarantees (avals) and fixed advances at standard market 
conditions. The contractual covenants have been met since the commencement of the agreement.
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5.13 Provisions

CHF 1,000 Warranties Onerous contracts Others Total

Short-term provisions
Balance at 01.01.2011 1,987 124 1,152 3,263
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0

Additions 984 0 270 1,254

Utilization -270 -51 -513 -834

Reversal -60 -27 -92 -179

Translation adjustments -13 0 0 -13

Balance at 31.12.2011 2,628 46 817 3,491
Changes in the scope of consolidation 344 0 0 344

Additions 2,040 18 955 3,013

Utilization -1,107 -47 -324 -1,478

Reversal -529 0 0 -529

Translation adjustments -3 0 0 -3

Balance at 31.12.2012 3,373 17 1,448 4,838

Long-term provisions
Balance at 01.01.2011 0 158 187 345
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0

Utilization 0 -139 0 -139

Reversal 0 0 -5 -5

Balance at 31.12.2011 0 19 182 201
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0

Reversal 0 -19 -1 -20

Balance at 31.12.2012 0 0 181 181

Warranty provisions are related to sales of products and services and are based on experience. 

The provision for onerous long-term lease agreements covers lease obligations for one property in Switzerland until  
31 May 2013.

Other provisions cover risks from indemnifications related to the sale of companies in previous years, pending legal cases 
and an earn-out agreed upon the acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin GmbH.
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5.14 Accruals

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Accrued expenses 14,574 15,484

Current income tax payables 19 16

Total accrued expenses 14,593 15,500

The accrued expenses of CHF 14.6 million (prior year: CHF 15.5 million) mainly consist of accruals in relation to employees’ 
annual leave entitlements, overtime and bonus totaling CHF 9.0 million (prior year: CHF 8.9 million), outstanding trade 
payables, accrued income taxes of CHF 0.9 million (prior year: CHF 0.3 million) as well as the remaining costs of customer 
projects already billed, but for which final acceptance is still pending.

5.15 Shareholders’ equity

Share capital
The share capital as at 31 December 2012 amounts to CHF 1.7 million (prior year: CHF 1.7 million) and consists of 
16,712,744 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10 per share.

The company reports two remaining categories of conditional capital with an overall nominal value of CHF 62,079. 
620,799 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 0.10, may be created for the purposes of exercising options 
and conversion rights granted to their holders in connection with the company’s bonds or similar debentures and /or by 
exercising option rights allotted to shareholders and/or the company’s Board of Directors and management. The number 
of registered shares securing management option rights is limited to a maximum of 550,000. As at the cut-off date, the 
company had not issued any options or entered into any commitments that would result in these registered shares being 
created.

A group of investors holds 70.3% (prior year: 70.3%) of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG. No other single share-
holder otherwise holds 5% or more of the voting rights. The group of investors, comprising Ammann Group Holding AG, 
Langenthal, Corporate Investment Management Affentranger Holding AG, Geneva, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG, 
Winterthur, Tegula AG, Zurich and Mr. Rudolf Maag, Binningen, are bound together until May 2013 by a shareholder 
pooling agreement. The group of investors is represented on the Board of Directors by Mr. Spoerry and Mr. Kilchmann.

Treasury shares 
During 2012 the company acquired no treasury shares (prior year: 138,154 shares at CHF 7.77). The employee share 
purchase plan was skipped this year (prior year: 95,659 shares at CHF 4.20 were acquired by members of management). 
Under the bonus share plan of the Board of Directors 3,500 shares (prior year: 3,500) were granted at no consideration. 
The Group Management received no bonus shares (prior year: 10,750 shares). At 31 December 2012 Mikron Holding AG, 
Biel owned 31,707 treasury shares (prior year: 35,207 shares).

Reserves 
The statutory or legal reserves which may not be distributed amount to CHF 0.9 million (prior year: CHF 0.9 million). In the 
year under review, foreign currency translation adjustments of CHF 0.3 million (prior year: CHF 0.2 million) on loans with 
equity character in foreign currencies (EUR and USD) were posted directly to shareholders’ equity.



78 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Mikron Group Financial Report 2012

6. Other notes

6.1 Derivative financial instruments
For economically hedged future business transactions in foreign currencies, the Group uses financial instruments. As at 
the balance sheet date, the Group held the following forward exchange contracts:

CHF 1,000 Replacement value Contract Contract equivalent by due date

positive negative equivalent 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years over 5 years

Balance 31.12.2011 26 0 5,857 4,043 1,814 0 0

Balance 31.12.2012 0 16 12,794 16 12,778 0 0

6.2 Assets pledged as security for liabilities

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Real estate pledged as security for liabilities 57,651 56,401

Collateral securities – nominal 88,745 88,745

Loans and mortgages utilized 13,970 14,020

Other assets pledged as security for liabilities 52,365 50,692

Utilized by finance leases (machinery, licences) 785 1,391

Utilized by credit facilities and loans 0 0

As part of the financing arrangements, the existing borrower notes were deposited as collateral for the mortgages on the 
investment property and one production facility in Switzerland. 

The credit limits made available by the bank consortium were secured by assigning the properties used for operational 
purposes, along with part of the credit balances held in bank accounts, current financial assets and part of the Mikron 
Group’s receivables.

In addition, machines and licenses acquired under the terms of leasing agreements were pledged.

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Off-balance sheet lease commitments, payable
– not later than 1 year 3,498 3,060

– later than 1 year but not later than 3 years 5,313 5,060

– later than 3 years but not later than 5 years 1,290 1,488

– later than 5 years 1,733 2,158

Total off-balance sheet lease commitments 11,834 11,766

6.3 Off-balance sheet lease commitments

The future lease payments are mainly related to non-cancellable operating leases for office and production facilities and 
office equipment. The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.

In the year under review, off-balance sheet lease commitments increased due to changes in the scope of consolidation by 
CHF 2.1 million.

All are denominated in euros or Norwegian kroner. 

The replacement values are disclosed as other receivables (Note 5.6) or short-term financial liabilities (Note 5.12).
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6.4 Goodwill offset against shareholders’ capital

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

At cost
Balance at 1 January 5,354 5,374
Additions 1,567 0

Disposals -5,354 0

Translation adjustments 0 -20

Balance at 31 December 1,567 5,354

Accumulated amortization
Balance at 1 January -4,650 -3,570
Amortizations -965 -1,075

Disposals 5,354 0

Translation adjustments 0 -5

Balance at 31 December -261 -4,650

Theoretical value 31 December 1,306 704

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Profit 8,471 7,134

Amortization goodwill -965 -1,075

Theoretical profit 7,506 6,059

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Shareholders’ equity 153,020 148,189

Theoretical value goodwill 1,306 704

Theoretical shareholders’ equity 154,326 148,893

The addition results from the acquisition of IMA Automation Berlin GmbH (now: Mikron Berlin GmbH) on 1 March 2012. 
In the year under review the existing Goodwill (Namco SA and Mikron Singapore Ltd.) was written off completely. The 
disclosure is based on a straight line depreciation of 5 years.

The impact of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill on income statement and balance sheet is presented in the following 
tables:
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6.5 Related party transactions
The transactions with related parties and companies consist of commercial business transactions conducted at standard 
market conditions. These mainly concern relationships with a small number of customers and suppliers. 

CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Net sales 1,099 244

Material costs and subcontractors -73 -71

Other operating expenses -25 -25

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Accounts receivable 127 9

Other current liabilities and accrued expenses -12 -10

The assets of the Mikron pension fund include 3,802 shares of Mikron Holding AG with a market value of CHF 0.02 million 
(prior year: CHF 0.02 million).

7. Information by segment

7.1 Information by business segment

CHF 1,000 Machining Automation Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Net sales – third party 134,098 122,906 101,181 88,042 0 0 235,279 210,948

Net sales – group 245 423 35 29 -280 -452 0 0

Total net sales 134,343 123,329 101,216 88,071 -280 -452 235,279 210,948

Operating result 9,894 7,077 -1,579 133 796 213 9,111 7,423
Earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT) 9,894 7,077 -1,579 133 2,901 2,171 11,216 9,381

CHF 1,000 Machining Automation Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Assets excluding cash and cash  
equivalents and current financial assets

110,235 99,221 57,763 47,810 18,788 22,092 186,786 169,123

Cash and cash equivalents 1,192 3,926 2,788 1,271 21,693 21,034 25,673 26,231

Current financial assets 0 0 0 0 18,649 23,745 18,649 23,745

Total assets 111,427 103,147 60,551 49,081 59,130 66,871 231,108 219,099
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7.2 Information by geographical segment

Net sales
CHF 1,000 2012 2011

Switzerland 33,036 30,283

Europe 150,311 119,987

North America 25,393 26,868

Asia/Pacific, India 23,267 28,877

Others 3,272 4,933

Total net sales 235,279 210,948
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

Report of the statutory auditor
to the general meeting of
Mikron Holding AG
Biel

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mikron
Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement and notes (pages xx to xx and page xx), for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from materi-
al misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for select-
ing and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the
internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasona-
bleness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidat-
ed financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 give a true
and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with
Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd, Bahnhofplatz 10, Postfach, 3001 Bern
Telephone: +41 58 792 75 00, Facsimile: +41 58 792 75 10, www.pwc.ch

Report of the statutory auditor
to the general meeting of
Mikron Holding AG
Biel

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mikron Holding AG, which comprise 
the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes (pages 56 to 81 and 
97), for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, imple-
menting and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is 
further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 give a true and fair view 
of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply 
with Swiss law.

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Oliver Kuntze   ManuelMichel
Audit expert   Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Bern, March 15, 2013
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5-Year Financial Summary

CHF million, except productivity  
and number of employees

2012 2011 2010
restated

2009
restated

2008
as per IFRS

Key performance data
Order intake 236.3 225.0 219.8 129.7 233.6

Net sales 235.3 210.9 182.5 150.1 264.2

Order backlog 109.5 95.9 84.2 51.2 82.0

Operating output 237.4 212.0 181.0 144.3 269.5

Productivity (added value/personnel expenses) 1.46 1.48 1.39 1.05 1.33

Research and development 5.2 6.1 5.5 5.6 10.5

Number of employees (end of year) 1,093 972 902 959 1,126

Investments incl. acquisitions of subsidiaries – net 11.3 11.5 3.0 2.5 11.2

Earnings
Operating result, as % of net sales 9.1 3.9% 7.4 3.5% 0.5 0.3% -32.8 -21.9% -15.8 -6.0%

Ordinary result, as % of net sales 8.3 3.5% 6.1 2.9% -0.5 -0.3% -33.9 -22.6% -15.5 -5.9%

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), 
as % of net sales 11.2 4.8% 9.4 4.5% 3.1 1.7% -31.8 -21.2% -14.3 -5.4%

Profit for the year, as % of net sales 8.5 3.6% 7.1 3.4% 1.6 0.9% -32.8 -21.9% -13.4 -5.1%

Cash flow 

Cash flow from operating activities (incl. changes in 
net working capital), as % of net sales 9.8 4.2% 8.0 3.8% 14.9 8.2% 1.4 1.0% -8.2 -3.1%

Operational free cash flow (prior to acquisitions and 
changes in current financial assets) 0.6 -2.9 13.0 -0.6 -18.5

Balance sheet
Balance sheet total 231.1 219.1 206.6 210.9 259.0

Current assets 146.1 136.7 126.7 123.9 160.9

Non-current assets 85.0 82.4 79.9 86.9 98.1

Current liabilities 60.5 53.2 50.5 49.4 78.6

Long-term liabilities 17.6 17.7 15.1 19.9 6.1

Shareholders’ equity, as % of balance sheet total 153.0 66.2% 148.2 67.6% 140.9 68.2% 141.5 67.1% 174.4 67.3%
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Information on Share Capital

2012 2011 2010
restated

2009
restated

2008
as per IFRS

Number of shares1)

Registered shares 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744

Total 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744 16,712,744

Number of shares subject to a condition 2) 0 0 0 0 0

Key figures per share in CHF 3)

Profit 0.51 0.43 0.10 -1.97 -0.81

Cash flow from operating activities 0.58 0.48 0.89 0.09 -0.49

Shareholders’ equity 9.16 8.87 8.43 8.47 10.43

Distribution to shareholders 0.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Share price SIX Swiss Exchange
At 31 December 5.03 5.30 6.86 6.50 5.80

High/low during business year 6.99–5.00 10.90–5.00 7.80–6.00 7.25–2.70 14.70–5.50

1) All shares are entitled to dividends/distributions.

2) Stated as far as commitments have been entered that would result in these registered shares being created.

3) Based on the average number of outstanding shares.

Trading volume (daily average) 
In the fiscal year 2012 the average daily trade volume was 5,517 shares (prior year: 8,907 shares).
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Financial Statements 2012 
of Mikron Holding AG

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Revenue
Financial income 4,613 8,551

Services and other income 3,229 3,026

Income from revaluation of investments and loans 633 0

Dividend income 5,582 13,000

Total revenue 14,057 24,577

Expenses
Financial expenses 3,829 7,576

Expenses from revaluation of investments and loans 0 5,144

Other expenses 2,165 2,408

Total expenses 5,994 15,128

Net earnings 8,063 9,449

Income statement
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Balance sheet

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 21,476 20,609

Marketable securities 18,808 19,932

Intercompany receivables 163 399

Other receivables 139 132

Short-term financial assets towards third parties 0 4,026

Short-term financial assets towards Group companies 15,651 11,136

Prepaid expenses 11 94

Total current assets 56,248 56,328

Non-current assets
Long-term financial assets

– Investments 70,943 66,745

– Loans to Group companies 41,237 42,228

Total non-current assets 112,180 108,973

Total assets 168,428 165,301

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 38 486

Intercompany payables 153 201

Other liabilities 53 37

Short-term financial liabilities from Group companies 11,927 14,935

Accrued expenses 677 727

Short-term provisions 605 0

Total current liabilities 13,453 16,386

Long-term liabilities
Provisions 181 182

Total long-term liabilities 181 182

Total liabilities 13,634 16,568

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 1,671 1,671

Capital surplus reserve (legal reserve) 106,668 108,670

Reserve for treasury shares 170 188

Retained earnings 46,285 38,204

Total shareholders’ equity 154,794 148,733

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 168,428 165,301



90 | Mikron Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements 2012 
of Mikron Holding AG

1. Commentary of Group Management on the Financial Report 2012 of Mikron Holding AG
      
Mikron Holding AG recorded positive net earnings of CHF 8.1 million, which is slightly below the prior year at CHF 9.4 mil-
lion. In the year under review, the subsidiaries distributed CHF 5.6 million of dividends to Mikron Holding AG (prior year: 
CHF 13.0 million). The dividend payments almost equalled the positive impact from the valuation of the investments in 
subsidiary companies, the difference being CHF 0.6 million. Efficiency and thus costs generated by the team that provides 
services for the Mikron Group was further streamlined over the course of the year and stewardship costs therefore de-
creased further to CHF 2.2 million (prior year: CHF 2.4 million). Those costs are covered by the trademark fee and other ser-
vice income. The net financial income (financial income less financial expense) of CHF 0.8 million is at a similar level to the 
prior year. The key drivers of this figure are the foreign currency hedges and interest income from marketable securities.

With cash and cash equivalents plus marketable securities of CHF 40.3 million (prior year: CHF 40.5 million) and an equity 
ratio of over 90% the company is financially very healthy.

In 2012 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approved a distribution of CHF 2.0 million (CHF 0.12 per share) from 
the capital surplus reserve. This was the first distribution to shareholders since the year 2000. Based on the performance 
of the Group in 2012, the Board of Directors proposes a distribution to the shareholders of CHF 2.5 million (CHF 0.15 per 
share) at the next Annual General Meeting.

2. Accounting principles      

The financial statements of Mikron Holding AG have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles stipulated 
by Swiss law. Balance sheet items are reported taking the imparity principle and the lower of cost or market principle into 
consideration. Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of transaction. 
Assets and liabilities are translated into Swiss francs at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.  
     
Investments are reported at cost less any accumulated depreciations and impairments. The valuation of shareholdings 
is based on the individual financial statements of the subsidiary companies established in accordance with Swiss GAAP 
FER.        
       

3. Information on risk management      

The Company is incorporated into the Mikron Group’s central risk assessment system, which deals with both strategic and 
operational risks. All identified risks are given a rating (based on probability of occurrence and extent of potential losses) 
and recorded in a risk inventory. This risk inventory provides the basis for the detailed discussions held at least once a year 
by the Board of Directors for the purpose of ensuring that the inventory is fully up to date. Ongoing monitoring of the risk 
inventory is a Group Management task. 

A risk assessment will be carried out for all identified risks relating to accounting and financial reporting. The internal 
control system over financial reporting ensures that appropriate controls are defined in order to reduce financial risks. 
Remaining risks are monitored.       
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4. Statement of shareholders’ equity

CHF 1,000 Share capital Capital surplus 
reserve

Reserve for 
treasury shares

Retained 
earnings

Shareholders’ 
equity

Balance at 31.12.2010 1,671 108,670 52 28,891 139,284
Net earnings 2011 9,449 9,449

Change of reserve for treasury shares 136 -136 0

Balance at 31.12.2011 1,671 108,670 188 38,204 148,733
Net earnings 2012 8,063 8,063

Change of reserve for treasury shares -18 18 0

Distribution to sharehoders -2,002 -2,002

Balance at 31.12.2012 1,671 106,668 170 46,285 154,794

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Capital I subject to a condition 12 12

Capital II subject to a condition 50 50

5. Capital subject to condition

Capital I subject to a condition 
Capital increase subject to a condition of initial nominal value of CHF 12,079.90 as per approval of the Annual General 
Meeting of 18 June 2003 by the issue of 120,799 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.10.

Capital II subject to a condition 
Capital increase subject to a condition of initial nominal value of CHF 50,000 as per approval of the Annual General Meet-
ing of 18 June 2003 by the issue of 500,000 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.10.

6. Information on treasury shares

During 2012 the company acquired no treasury shares (prior year: 138,154 shares at CHF 7.77). The employee share 
purchase plan was skipped this year (prior year: 95,659 shares at CHF 4.20 were acquired by members of management). 
Under the bonus share plan of the Board of Directors 3,500 shares (prior year: 3,500) were granted at no consideration. 
The Group Management received no bonus shares (prior year: 10,750 shares). At 31 December 2012 Mikron Holding AG, 
Biel owned 31,707 treasury shares (prior year: 35,207 shares). 
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7. Shareholder structure

From a total of 3,743 shareholders, 3,718 shareholders with 15,548,220 shares are entitled to vote. 25 shareholders with 
137,724 shares as well as 1,164,524 shares of the trading stock are not entitled to vote.

31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Number of shares Voting power Number of shares Voting power

Board of Directors
H. Spoerry Chairman 4,500 0.03% 2,500 0.01%

E. Rikli Vice-Chairman 21,000 0.13% 20,500 0.12%

P. Forstmoser Member 5,660 0.03% 5,160 0.03%

A. Steiner Member 5,000 0.03% 4,500 0.03%

Group Management
B. Cathomen CEO 25,580 0.15% 25,000 0.15%

R. Rihs COO 32,000 0.19% 32,000 0.19%

M. Blom CFO 8,100 0.05% 8,100 0.05%

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

% Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

%

Shareholders > 5% 1 11,742,941 70.26% 1 11,742,941 70.26%

Shareholders > 100,000 < 5% 2 746,187 4.46% 3 878,806 5.26%

Shareholders > 10,000 <_ 100,000 35 823,364 4.93% 33 778,819 4.66%

Shareholders > 1,000 <_ 10,000 761 1,689,659 10.11% 758 1,668,197 9.98%

Shareholders > 100 <_ 1,000 1,481 504,746 3.02% 1,612 549,236 3.29%

Shareholders > 10 <_ 100 1,231 40,184 0.24% 1,354 43,970 0.26%

Shareholders <_ 10 232 1,139 0.01% 256 1,257 0.01%

Trading stock 0 1,164,524 6.97% 0 1,049,518 6.28%

Total 3,743 16,712,744 100.00% 4,017 16,712,744 100.00%

9. Shares held by members of the Board of Directors and by Group Management

These figures include shares held by related parties of these persons, but not those of the group of investors.

8. Significant shareholders and their investments

A group of investors holds 70.3% (prior year: 70.3%) of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG. No other single share-
holder otherwise holds 5% or more of the voting rights. The group of investors, comprising Ammann Group Holding AG, 
Langenthal, Corporate Investment Management Affentranger Holding AG, Geneva, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG, 
Winterthur, Tegula AG, Zurich and Mr. Rudolf Maag, Binningen, are bound together until May 2013 by a shareholder 
pooling agreement. The group of investors is represented on the Board of Directors by Mr. Spoerry and Mr. Kilchmann.
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The credit facility made available by the bank consortium was secured by assigning the credit balances held in bank 
accounts, marketable securities and the receivables of the company of CHF 40.4 million (prior year: CHF 40.9 million).  
 
Under the terms of the credit agreement, the company is irrevocably committed to the bank consortium for the payment 
of all debts in respect of Group companies. The guarantee is subject to legally binding restrictions. The reported amount 
of CHF 152.6 million (prior year: CHF 146.0 million) corresponds to the distributable reserves as per the balance sheet. 
 
Mikron Holding AG has issued guarantees of CHF 27.8 million (prior year: CHF 19.4 million) predominantly to customers 
of Group companies in respect of down payments received.

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Assets pledged as security for liabilities 40,447 40,940

Utilized by credit facilities and loans 0 0

Guarantees in favor of bank syndicate 152,619 146,039

Guarantees for Group companies 27,799 19,398

10. Debt guarantees, guarantee obligations and liens in favor of third parties

11. Major investments

See page 97.
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CHF 1,000, except for number of shares B. Cathomen, CEO Total compensation of Group Management
2012 2012 2011

Base compensation 384 956 1,212

Variable compensation

– in cash 190 280 352

– in shares 0 0 94

Number of shares 0 0 10,750

Expenses for social security and pension 134 283 296

Employee stock purchase plan 0 0 143

Number of shares 0 0 56,000

Other compensation 0 7 9

Total 708 1,526 2,106

Base  
compensation

Variable compensation Social 
security TotalNo. of shares Amount

CHF 1,000 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

H. Spoerry Chairman 80 81 2,000 2,000 10 11 7 7 97 99

E. Rikli Vice-Chairman 79 78 500 500 3 3 6 6 88 87

P. Forstmoser Member 56 57 500 500 2 3 3 2 61 62

A. Steiner Member 55 56 500 500 2 3 3 3 60 62

P. Kilchmann Member 53 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 39

Total 323 311 3,500 3,500 17 20 19 18 359 349

Members of the Board of Directors receive a basic compensation element, attendance fees and generally a bonus in the 
form of shares with a lock-up period of up to five years during which they may not be sold. The remuneration is registered 
applying the accrual principle. The disclosure of shares relates to entitlement in the relevant financial year and not to en-
titlement at the time of transfer. 

12. Compensation to members of the Board of Directors

13. Compensation to Group Management

Group Management is composed of the CEO, CFO and the Head of the Mikron Automation division. These persons are 
employed either at Mikron Management AG, Langenthal, Mikron SA Boudry, Boudry or Mikron SA Agno, Agno.

Members of Group Management receive a fixed remuneration paid in 13 installments, a lump sum for expenses and a 
performance-related variable remuneration. The variable remuneration is set by the Board of Directors and is paid after the 
approval of the annual financial statements. Payment may be made in cash or in the form of shares, which are subject to 
a lock-up period of up to 3 years. In 2011 the former CFO received part of his compensation as bonus shares. Expenditure 
for social security and pension includes employer contributions to social insurance and to the pension fund and senior 
management pension fund.
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Proposed appropriation  
of retained earnings

Proposal of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that the retained earnings of CHF 46.3 
million for the year ended 31 December 2012 be appropriated as follows:

Appropriation of retained earnings

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Retained earnings carried forward 38,204 28,891

Change of reserve for treasury shares 18 -136

Net earnings 8,063 9,449

Retained earnings 46,285 38,204

Carry forward to new account 46,285 38,204

CHF 1,000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Reclassification of capital surplus reserves in other reserves 2,507 2,005

Distribution from capital surplus reserves (without witholding tax)

for the financial year 2012 of CHF 0.15 per share for 16,712,744* shares 2,507 2,005

The Board of Directors also proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a portion of the capital surplus reserves be  
allocated as follows:

Reclassification and payback of capital surplus reserves

* These figures are based on the issued share capital as of 9 April 2013. Treasury shares are not entitled to distributions.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

Report of the statutory auditor
to the general meeting of
Mikron Holding AG
Biel

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mikron
Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement and notes (pages xx to xx and page xx), for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from materi-
al misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for select-
ing and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the
internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasona-
bleness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidat-
ed financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 give a true
and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with
Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd, Bahnhofplatz 10, Postfach, 3001 Bern
Telephone: +41 58 792 75 00, Facsimile: +41 58 792 75 10, www.pwc.ch

Report of the statutory auditor
to the general meeting of
Mikron Holding AG
Biel

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Mikron Holding AG, which comprise the balance 
sheet, income statement and notes (pages 88 to 95 and 97), for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the require-
ments of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implement-
ing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of mate-
rial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 comply with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation.

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions 
of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Oliver Kuntze   ManuelMichel
Audit expert   Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Bern, March 15, 2013
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Local currency 1,000 Activity Currency Share capital Shareholding 
direct

Shareholding 
indirect

Switzerland
Mikron Holding AG, Biel 1 CHF 1,671

Mikron Management AG, Langenthal 1 CHF 12,000 100%

Mikron SA Agno, Agno 2,3 CHF 13,500 100%

Mikron SA Boudry, Boudry 2,3 CHF 2,000 100%

Mikron Tool SA Agno, Agno 2,3 CHF 300 100%

Germany
Mikron GmbH Rottweil, Rottweil 2,3 EUR 383 100%

Mikron Berlin GmbH, Berlin 2,3 EUR 515 100%

Singapore
Mikron Singapore Ltd. 2,3 SGD 1,431 100%

P.R. China
Mikron Shanghai Ltd. 2,3 CNY 3,379 100%

USA
Mikron Corp. Denver, Aurora 2,3 USD 10 100%

Mikron Corp. Monroe, Monroe 1,3 USD 3,500 100%

Activity 
1 = Management/service
2 = Production/development
3 = Sales/service

Group Companies /  
Investments Mikron Holding AG
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Except for the historical information contained herein, the statements in this annual report are forward-looking statements that involve 
risks and uncertainties.




